

José António Ribeiro Gonçalves

# Methodology for real impact assessment of the best location of distributed electric energy storage systems

Doctoral Thesis on Sustainable Energy Systems supervised by Professor António M. O. Gomes Martins and Professor Luís M. P. Neves and submitted to the Faculty of Sciences and Technology of the University of Coimbra

October, 2015



Universidade de Coimbra



#### FCTUC FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS E TECNOLOGIA UNIVERSIDADE DE COIMBRA

# Methodology for real impact assessment of the best location of distributed electric energy storage systems

Submitted to the Faculty of Sciences and Technology of the University of Coimbra in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Sustainable Energy Systems.

### Author José António Ribeiro Gonçalves

#### **Supervisors**

### António Manuel de Oliveira Gomes Martins

Department of Electrical Engineering and Computers of the Faculty of Sciences and Technology of the University of Coimbra

#### **Luís Miguel Pires Neves**

C

School of Technology and Management of the Polytechnic Institute of Leiria

#### Institutional collaboration



Massachusetts Institute of Technology – Portugal Program



Institute for Systems Engineering and Computers of Coimbra



Energy for Sustainability Initiative of the University of Coimbra

#### Funding

This work has been framed under the Energy for Sustainability Initiative of the University of Coimbra and supported by the Energy and Mobility for Sustainable Regions Project CENTRO-07-0224-FEDER-002004, co-funded by the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) through the «Programa Operacional Regional do Centro 2007 - 2013 (PORC)», in the framework of the «Sistema de Apoio a Entidades do Sistema Científico e Tecnológico Nacional», and by the «Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia». The work was also funded by the «Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia» under PEst-OE/EEI/UI0308/2014 and under project grant UID/MULTI/00308/2013.

Coimbra, 2015

U

### Abstract

This thesis presents a methodology to assist decision makers on the assessment of feasible solutions to integrate a distributed electric energy storage system (DEESS) in an urban environment, as a tool to provide power and energy services to the electric network. Requiring data easily found in the Portuguese energy sector, the developed methodology uses prototype diagrams of electricity demand, electricity prices and renewable electricity generation to optimize the location of electric energy storage units. The profile prototypes are based on real data, obtained through clustering techniques, and an improved genetic algorithm, based on Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm-II (NSGAII) is used for the optimization that allows the most suitable locations of DEESS units to be found.

The present work considers expected attitudes of the main stakeholders towards DEESS implementation and discusses possible regulatory framework options to define the DEESS business model in order to stimulate the appearance of market players intending to invest on energy storage systems, such as the use of a feed-in-tariff scheme.

The methodology was applied to a case study, using the nanophosphate lithium-ion (LiFePO4) battery technology due to its increasing use in electricity networks and to the advantages it offers when compared to other commercially available technologies. The choice of location uses a definition of the best schedule of operation, while optimizing four objective functions: the minimization of losses, voltage deviations and investment cost, and the maximization of the net gains of exploiting the differences among time-varying energy prices. This last objective included an externality assessment based on the European emissions trading system, trying to account for the main associated benefits of DEESS.

Results showed that the best DEESS location depends on the energy service to be provided, namely of the goal that defines the management scheme of the storage system. This feature suggests the need to incorporate this level of decision on the multiple objective formulation and makes the developed methodology appropriate to be used by different types of stakeholders, such as a private investor, the DSO or a public authority.

**Keywords:** Improved genetic algorithms, multiobjective assessment, distributed electric energy storage, energy profiles, distribution networks, load leveling energy service.

#### Resumo

Esta tese apresenta uma metodologia para ajudar os decisores a encontrar soluções viáveis que permitam integrar um sistema de armazenamento de energia elétrica distribuída (DEESS) num ambiente urbano, como uma ferramenta para fornecer serviços de potência e de energia para a rede elétrica. Requerendo dados de fácil obtenção no setor elétrico Português, a metodologia desenvolvida utiliza diagramas protótipo de consumo de energia elétrica, de preços de eletricidade, e de geração renovável de eletricidade, visando otimizar a localização das unidades de armazenamento de energia elétrica. Os diagramas protótipo são baseados em dados reais, sendo obtidos através de técnicas de agrupamento (clustering). Para a otimização é utilizado um algoritmo genético melhorado baseado no Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm-II (NSGAII) que permite encontrar os locais mais adequados para as unidades do DEESS.

O presente trabalho considera as atitudes expectáveis dos principais interessados na implementação de um DEESS e discute possíveis opções de enquadramento regulatório, tais como o uso de um incentivo nas tarifas, para definir um modelo de negócio que estimule o aparecimento de intervenientes no mercado com vontade de investir em sistemas de armazenamento de energia.

A metodologia foi aplicada a um estudo de caso, utilizando a tecnologia de baterias de Nanofosfato de iões de lítio (LiFePO4) devido a sua crescente utilização em redes de eletricidade e às vantagens oferecidas quando comparado a outras tecnologias disponíveis no mercado. A escolha das localizações usa uma definição do melhor horário de funcionamento enquanto otimiza quatro funções objetivo: a minimização das perdas, desvios de tensão e custo de investimento, e a maximização dos ganhos líquidos de exploração das diferenças entre os preços da energia que variam no tempo. Neste último objetivo é incluída uma avaliação de externalidades com base no sistema europeu de comércio de emissões, a fim de tentar contemplar os principais benefícios associados ao armazenamento.

Os resultados mostraram que a melhor localização de DEESS depende do serviço de energia a ser fornecida, nomeadamente nos objetivos que definem o regime de gestão do sistema de armazenamento. Esta característica sugere a necessidade de incorporar este nível de decisão na formulação multiobjetivo e torna a metodologia desenvolvida apropriada para ser usada por diferentes tipos de interessados, tais como investidores privados, o DSO ou uma autoridade pública.

**Palavras chave:** Algoritmos genéticos melhorados, avaliação multiobjectivo, armazenamento distribuído de energia elétrica, perfis de energia, redes de distribuição, serviço de suavização de carga

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the Rector of University of Coimbra for the opportunity to develop my work surrounded by a highly competent team, which enhances the development of important scientific work. I would also to express my gratitude to all those who are part of the MIT Portugal Program, of the Energy for Sustainability initiative, and to the Institute for Systems Engineering and Computers at Coimbra (INESC Coimbra), who provided support and opportunities, but most of all a great atmosphere of teamwork and cooperation.

I am especially thankful to both my supervisors, professor António Gomes Martins and professor Luis Miguel Neves, for sharing their experience and wisdom, and for strong support and the encouragement in all difficult moments. With both of them, I have learned to be more resilient and accurate, to explore different methodologies and alternative solutions and, hopefully, I have become a better researcher.

I also thank my colleagues and friends professor Romeu Vitorinho and professor João Sousa, who contributed in different stages with their technical and scientific knowledge, sharing experiences and work that proved extremely helpful.

I thank all of my fellow colleagues, especially my good friend Pedro Miguel for his support, advice, assistance and teamwork (which got us known as the electrical team). Without his outstanding support and friendship, all of this journey would have been much harder. My good friend Joana Bastos for her patience, support, critical inputs and reviews that provided assertiveness to my work, and my friend Nuno Figueiredo for his help in obtaining quality data, which allowed this work to be more robust and insightful.

I thank my family for their support during these long years, especially to my wonderful wife and children, who patiently understood of my limited availability and support, and dealt with all the struggles along my research. To them, my apologies for not always being there, or for being there while my mind still struggled with work matters. I am also thankful to my parents who encouraged and supported me in this adventure, cheering and encouraging me to face all challenges, and for the financial support without which this would have been impossible.

A last reference, but perhaps most important, I thank God for all the help in this process, for giving me an amazing family and surrounding me with extraordinary people, I would never have thought existed.

### Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.	.1	Mo	tivation and research objectives	1
	1.	.2	Sco	ope and limitations	2
	1.	.3	The	esis structure	2
2		Lite	ratu	re review	5
	2.	.1	Ene	ergy storage	5
		2.1.	.1	Electric energy storage operation	6
		2.1.	.2	Electric energy storage possible applications and services	8
		2.1.	.3	Barriers to electric energy storage	. 13
		2.1.	.4	Economic ESS costs	. 14
	2.	.2	Ass	sessment methodologies	. 19
		2.2	.1	Evaluation objectives	. 25
	2.	.3	Mu	Itiobjective optimization and genetic algorithms	. 27
		2.3	.1	Improved NSGAII	. 27
		2.3	.2	Genetic diversity in the population	. 31
		2.3	.3	Selection mechanism	. 32
		2.3	.4	Multiobjective optimization and decision making support	. 33
	2.	.4	Ext	ernalities: CO2 impact evaluation	. 35
3		Met	thod	ology proposal	39
	3.	.1	Dat	a clustering	. 42
		3.1.	.1	Clustering techniques	. 42
		3.1.	.2	Hierarchical Method (HM)	. 44
		3.1.	.3	Artificial Neural Networks (ANN) Method	. 46
		3.1.	.4	Profile prototypes definition	. 48
	3.	.2	Pro	posal of a pricing scheme for the energy storage service	. 51

3	3.3	Opt	timization method	53	
	3.3	.1	Initial population generation	53	
	3.3	.2	Multi-point crossover	53	
	3.3.3		Coding and Decoding Technique	54	
	3.3	.4	Termination	55	
	3.3	.5	Objective functions	55	
4	Ca	se st	udy	59	
۷	1.1	Dat	a clustering process	59	
	4.1	.1	Clustering of wholesale market price profiles	60	
	4.1	.2	Clustering of LD profiles	62	
	4.1	.3	Clustering of wind generation profiles	64	
Z	1.2	Тес	chnology characterization	66	
Z	1.3	Net	work characterization	67	
۷	1.4	ES	S working profiles	68	
۷	1.5	Mo	del constraints	72	
Z	1.6	Res	sults and discussion	72	
	4.6	.1	DM interactive search	74	
	4.6	.2	Reference points	75	
	4.6	.3	Results analysis	80	
	4.6	.4	Externalities: avoided GHG	91	
	4.6	.5	Power regulation services (availability for frequency control)	92	
	4.6	.6	Sensitivity analysis	93	
5	Co	nclus	sions and future work	97	
6	Ret	ferer	nces	101	
7	7 Appendix108				
7	7.1 Management scheme A prototypes				

7.2	Management scheme B prototypes	. 110
7.3	Management scheme C prototypes	. 112
7.4	Summarized results for MSch A	. 114
7.5	Summarized results for MSch B	115
7.6	Summarized results for MSch C	. 116

### THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

### List of figures

Figure 2-1 – Research areas in Strategic Research Agenda for Europe's electricity networks of the future (SmartGrids, 2012)
Figure 2-2 – Challenges and Benefits in the electricity chain (H. Chen et al., 2009)
Figure 2-3 – Energy storage applications into grid (H. Chen et al., 2009)
Figure 2-4 - Market Estimation for Combined Applications/Benefits: Market Intersection (Eyer et al., 2004)
Figure 2-5 – Illustration of simplified wind output profile and desired output (Le & Nguyen, 2008)
Figure 2-6 – Genetic manipulation process of IGA (Romeu M Vitorino et al., 2009). 
Figure 2-7 - Convergence performance using IGA and other methodologies (R.M. Vitorino et al., 2013)
Figure 2-8 - Evolution fitness results of IGA as a function of the number of generations (Npop) (Gonçalves et al., 2013)
Figure 2-9 – NSGA-II procedure
Figure 2-10 – Possible 80% cut in GHG emissions in the EU, using year 1990 as reference (Commission, 2015b)
Figure 3-1 – Proposed methodology for DEESS assessment using iNSGA-II algorithm – Macro view
Figure 3-2 – Proposed methodology for DEESS assessment using iNSGAII algorithm – Detailed view
Figure 3-3 – Data clustering techniques 43
Figure 3-4 – Kohonen self-organizing map model (Everitt et al., 2011)
Figure 3-5 – ANN application for 2008 data clustering of LD, market prices and wind power generation
Figure 3-6 – ANN example for six clusters output
Figure 3-7 – Self-organizing map hits allocation example

Figure 3-8 - Methodology for profile cluster prototypes of price, electricity consumption and wind power generation (Miguel et al., 2016)
Figure 3-9 – Average annual cost between PRE and regulated market (ERSE, 2013)
Figure 3-10 - Example of the Multi-point crossover technique
Figure 3-11 – Evolution of improved NSGA-II using a termination criteria 55
Figure 4-1 – Tree dendogram representing the clustering of LD daily profiles for 2008
Figure 4-2 – The relation of the distance between clusters with the number of clusters for the LD in 2008
Figure 4-3 – Price prototype clusters for the HM and the ANN method, for 2008. 61
Figure 4-4 – Prototypes price range variation, for 2008
Figure 4-5 – HM 2008 cluster prototypes for HV LD 63
Figure 4-6 – ANN method 2008 cluster prototypes for HV LD
Figure 4-7 – Representation of the variation range of HV LD cluster profiles for 2008.
Figure 4-7 – Representation of the variation range of HV LD cluster profiles for 2008. 64 Figure 4-8 – Extreme variation of HV LD cluster profiles around the average, for 2008.
Figure 4-7 – Representation of the variation range of HV LD cluster profiles for 2008.      64      Figure 4-8 – Extreme variation of HV LD cluster profiles around the average, for 2008.      64      Figure 4-9 – Renewable HM and ANN prototypes for the year of 2008.
Figure 4-7 – Representation of the variation range of HV LD cluster profiles for 2008.    64      Figure 4-8 – Extreme variation of HV LD cluster profiles around the average, for 2008.    64      Figure 4-9 – Renewable HM and ANN prototypes for the year of 2008.    65      Figure 4-10 – Clusters #1 for HV LD and renewable energy generation.    65
Figure 4-7 – Representation of the variation range of HV LD cluster profiles for 2008.    64      Figure 4-8 – Extreme variation of HV LD cluster profiles around the average, for 2008.    64      Figure 4-9 – Renewable HM and ANN prototypes for the year of 2008.    65      Figure 4-10 – Clusters #1 for HV LD and renewable energy generation.    65      Figure 4-11 - 12.66kV radial distribution systems (Mora, 2012)    68
Figure 4-7 – Representation of the variation range of HV LD cluster profiles for 2008.    64      Figure 4-8 – Extreme variation of HV LD cluster profiles around the average, for 2008.    64      Figure 4-9 – Renewable HM and ANN prototypes for the year of 2008.    65      Figure 4-10 – Clusters #1 for HV LD and renewable energy generation.    65      Figure 4-11 - 12.66kV radial distribution systems (Mora, 2012)    68      Figure 4-12 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#5.    69
Figure 4-7 – Representation of the variation range of HV LD cluster profiles for 2008.    64      Figure 4-8 – Extreme variation of HV LD cluster profiles around the average, for 2008.    64      Figure 4-9 – Renewable HM and ANN prototypes for the year of 2008.    65      Figure 4-10 – Clusters #1 for HV LD and renewable energy generation.    65      Figure 4-11 - 12.66kV radial distribution systems (Mora, 2012).    68      Figure 4-12 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#5.    69      Figure 4-13 – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#1    70
Figure 4-7 – Representation of the variation range of HV LD cluster profiles for 2008.    64      Figure 4-8 – Extreme variation of HV LD cluster profiles around the average, for 2008.    64      Figure 4-9 – Renewable HM and ANN prototypes for the year of 2008.    65      Figure 4-10 – Clusters #1 for HV LD and renewable energy generation.    65      Figure 4-11 - 12.66kV radial distribution systems (Mora, 2012)    68      Figure 4-12 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#5.    69      Figure 4-14 – Example of renewable power generation availability assessment when combining average annual LD and renewable cluster#4.    70
Figure 4-7 – Representation of the variation range of HV LD cluster profiles for 2008.    64      Figure 4-8 – Extreme variation of HV LD cluster profiles around the average, for 2008.    64      Figure 4-9 – Renewable HM and ANN prototypes for the year of 2008.    65      Figure 4-10 – Clusters #1 for HV LD and renewable energy generation.    65      Figure 4-11 - 12.66kV radial distribution systems (Mora, 2012).    68      Figure 4-12 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#5.    69      Figure 4-13 – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#1.    70      Figure 4-15 –Renewable integration considering variation between average LD combined with wind generation cluster#4.    71

Figure 4-17 – Profile analysis of LD prototype #4 and market price prototype #3.73
Figure 4-18 – Annual average profiles comparison of LD with energy market rate prices for 2008
Figure 4-19 – Interactive example for scenario 28 result analysis
Figure 4-20 – Crowding distance highlights for Pareto-front of scenario 46
Figure 4-21 – Crowding distance method application in scenario 28 to help choosing the best balanced non-dominated solution
Figure 4-22 – Euclidian distance method application in scenario 28 to help choosing the best balanced non-dominated solution
Figure 4-23 – Isometric view of scenario 51 results (Scheme 3) 83
Figure 4-24 – 2D view of Scenario 51 by comparing NERB and NEL results 84
Figure 4-25 – 2D view of Scenario 51 by comparing NSAC and NEL results 84
Figure 4-26 – 2D view of Scenario 20 (MSch A) by comparing NVqmd and NEL results
Figure 4-27 – 2D view of Scenario 31 (MSch B) by comparing NVqmd and NEL results
Figure 4-28 – Isometric view of scenario 35 results (MSch B) 88
Figure 4-29 – 2D representation results for NEL, NSAC 89
Figure 4-30 – Location set for DEESS installation considering three different management schemes
Figure 4-31 – Scenario 36 non-dominated solutions impact on the SE LD 93
Figure 7-1 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#1 108
Figure 7-2 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#2 108
Figure 7-3 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#3 109
Figure 7-4 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#4 109
Figure 7-5 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#5 109
Figure 7-6 – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#1 110
Figure 7-7 – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#2 110

Figure 7-8 – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#3 111
Figure 7-9 – – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#4 111
Figure 7-10 – – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#5 111
Figure 7-11 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#1
Figure 7-12 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#2
Figure 7-13 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#3
Figure 7-14 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#4
Figure 7-15 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#5

### List of tables

Table 2-1 - Application Category Specifications (H. Chen et al., 2009)
Table 2-2 - Application Category Specifications (S. M. Schoenung & Hassenzahl,2003)10
Table 2-3 – Types of applications as a function of time span duration (S. M.Schoenung, 2001)11
Table 2-4 - Energy Storage System Characteristics(S. M. Schoenung, 2001) 12
Table 2-5 – Two perspectives for peak power service revenue and costs 15
Table 2-6 - Revenues and costs presented by (Kempton & Tomić, 2005)
Table 2-7 - Summary of Key Standard Assumptions and Calculations forApplications of Storage in the State of California (Eyer et al., 2004)
Table 2-8 - Capital and O&M costs of selected technologies(J. Vasconcelos et al.,2012)
Table 2-9 –Battery ESS models for economics and power systems studies (Divya &Østergaard, 2009)20
Table 2-10 – Literature review regarding ESS working schemes.    22
Table 2-11 - ESS studies applying potential simulation software tools
Table 2-12 – Summary of energy storage assessment issues referred in theliterature.25
Table 3-1 – Hierarchical clustering methods (Everitt et al., 2011)
Table 2 – SRP characterization according to the production process(ERSE, 2009)
Table 3-3 – Coding technique for available buses identification    54
Table 3-4 – Available chromosomes' matrix 54
Table 4-1 – Data allocation for 2008 electricity prices performed with the hierarchicalmethod.60
Table 4-2 – Data allocation for 2008 electricity prices performed with the artificial      neural networks method    61

Table 4-3 – Data allocation for 2008 HV LD performed with the hierarchical method
Table 4-4 – Data allocation for 2008 HV LD performed with the artificial neuralnetworks method.63
Table 4-5 – Prototypes annual representativeness 66
Table 4-6 – Summary costs table for the considered unitary storage solution 67
Table 4-7 – Crowding evaluation parameters of scenario 28    77
Table 4-8-Euclidian normalized distance for the scenario 28 non-dominatedsolutions79
Table 4-9 – NEL and NVqmd values for the RDS without storage
Table 4-10 – Summarized analysis for the three considered management schemes
Table 4-11 – NVqmd impacts per scenario 87
Table 4-12 – Comparison results for scenarios 21, 22 and 24 with 7 205.0kWh NELresult
Table 4-13 - Sensitivity analysis applied to objective function NERB      94
Table 7-1 – Summarized results for MSch A 114
Table 7-2 – Summarized results for MSch B 115
Table 7-3 – Summarized results for MSch C 116

Acronym	Acronyms			
AMC	Average marginal costs			
ANN	Artificial neural network			
BESS	Battery energy storage system			
C/D	Charge/discharge			
CA	Cranking amperes			
CNN	Competitive neural networks			
CRF	Capital recovery factor			
DEESS	Distributed electric energy storage system			
DM	Decision maker			
DoD	Depth of discharge			
DSO	Distribution system operator			
EA	Evolutionary algorithms			
ESS	Energy storage system			
EU ETS	European emissions trading system			
EV	Electric vehicles			
GA	Genetic algorithms			
GHG	Greenhouse gas			
HM	Hierarchical clustering method			
HV	High voltage			
iNSGA-II	improved NSGA-II			
LD	Load demand			
MIBEL	Iberian electricity market			
MSch	Management scheme			
NEL	network energy losses			
NERB	Network energy rate benefit			
NSAC	Network storage annualized cost			
NSGA-II	Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm-II			
NVqmd	Network voltage quadratic mean deviation			
рс	Probability crossover			
PC	Power converter			
PL	Power losses			
pm	Probability mutation			
PSO	Particle swarm optimization			
PT	Power transformer			
RDS	Radial distribution system			
RE	Renewable energy			
RES	Renewable energy sources			
SOM	Self-organizing maps			
SRP Special regime producer				
TSO	Transmission system operator			
V2G	Vehicle-to-grid			

### Glossary of frequently used acronyms

#### THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

# 1 Introduction

The need to combine distributed generation, continuous load growth, increasing power quality requirements of electronic loads and higher regional power transfers in a (nowadays) largely interconnected network, presents new challenges to power systems.

These new challenges can lead to a complex and less secure power system operation, especially because power plants may not be able to follow new demands, as a result of technical, economic, environmental, and/or governmental regulation constraints (Ribeiro et al., 2001),(R.M. Vitorino et al., 2013).

In the context of smart grids and micro grids, distributed electric energy storage systems (DEESS) are presented as an option to enable the optimal use of resources, by providing the capability of effectively balancing supply and demand (EPRI, 2010). However, a methodology is needed to evaluate the impact of storage, as well as the best locations for DEESS units, in order to provide specific energy services to the network.

### 1.1 Motivation and research objectives

This thesis presents a methodology to assist decision makers on the assessment of feasible solutions regarding the integration of a DEESS in an urban environment, as a tool to provide power and energy services to the electric network. The developed methodology uses profile prototypes based on real data, obtained through clustering techniques. These profiles, of electricity demand, electricity prices and renewable electricity production, are used to optimize the placement of electric energy storage units by an improved genetic algorithm based on the Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm-II (NSGAII). The thesis considers expected attitudes of the main stakeholders towards DEESS implementation and discusses the possible regulatory framework options to define the DEESS business model.

The novelty of the proposed methodology is to combine the determination of the best location for the storage units with the definition of the best schedule of operation when simultaneously minimizing investment costs, energy losses and voltage

deviations, as well as maximizing the economic benefit resulting from the energy exchange with the grid.

The proposed methodology aims to provide the decision-maker (DM) with insight on the impacts associated with possible energy storage systems (ESS) management schemes, as well as to propose a pricing scheme within the current legal framework for the ESS exploitation. Considering plausible management schemes based on possible private stakeholders objectives, the assessment of its impacts, both technical and economic, increases their perception of the characteristics of available DEESS options.

The specific goals of the research may be formulated as the following research question:

- > In which circumstances can urban DEESS be a feasible solution?, given:
  - Technological costs / Power Generation Costs;
  - Availability / Energy Services provided;
  - Location and sparsity of the storage units.

### 1.2 Scope and limitations

The developed methodology could be used in any type of network as long as a correct characterization is done. Considering the assessment of technical impacts in its current state, the proposed methodology is suited for energy services assessment.

The operation of ESS is constrained by the individual capacities of each storage unit and additional specifications, namely: the required voltage for the power inverter, the power limit considering the bus constraints in the network to be assessed, and the physical limit of each individual storage solution for a maximum volume of 1m<sup>3</sup>, specified in order to be easily installed within a typical distribution transformer station (EDP Distribuiçao, 2004).

### **1.3 Thesis structure**

This doctoral thesis is organized in five chapters, each one describing specific work carried out during the development of the thesis. This chapter presented an introduction, discussing the motivation, objectives and research question to be answered, and the scope and limitations of the developed work.

The remaining chapters are organized as follows:

- Chapter 2 presents a literature review on energy storage operation, possible applications, barriers and some principles for assessing the economic cost and benefits of energy storage systems. This chapter describes different assessment methodologies and common evaluation parameters and techniques used in the literature. A significant part of the text is dedicated to multiobjective optimization and the use of an optimized NSGAII which was regarded as an efficient way to solve the problem given its nature. A final section was dedicated to the evaluation of externalities, namely the evaluation of environmental impacts by valuing CO2 emissions.
- Chapter 3 presents the proposed methodology for assessing energy storage systems. The chapter includes a detailed description of the clustering methods used and the development of prototype diagrams. The second section of the chapter describes a proposal of a pricing scheme for the energy recovered from storage, based on the current legal framework, considering hypothetical assumptions on how energy storage systems could be integrated/treated. Finally, the chosen optimization method is also described, detailing its design and choice of settings.
- Chapter 4 presents the application of the methodology to a case study based on a IEEE standard 69 bus network. The prototype diagrams used are determined through the clustering methods described, with information obtained from the Portuguese energy sector. The chapter also details the characteristics of the chosen technology, network and energy storage system working profiles. Lastly, a detailed analysis of the results is presented.
- Chapter 5 presents the final conclusions, highlighting the potential and limitations of the proposed methodology, and suggesting future work to further developments and improvements.

### THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

## 2 Literature review

### 2.1 Energy storage

Continuous load growth, increasing power quality requirements of electronic loads and higher regional power transfers in a largely interconnected network, can lead to complex and less secure power system operation, especially because new economic, environmental, technical, and governmental regulation constraints make it difficult to follow the continuous growth of demand (Ribeiro et al., 2001), (Ipakchi & Albuyeh, 2009).

In the recent past, energy storage for daily periods seemed economically unfeasible (Barton & Infield, 2004). However, the rising cost of oil and the need to rethink the management of the electricity grid (to meet the demands of current loads) led to consider storage, either centralized or decentralized, as an opportunity to help solving problems of capacity and reliability of the network (Divya & Østergaard, 2009; Ribeiro et al., 2001). The SmartGrids European Technology Platform (SmartGrids, 2012) presents storage as a key solution, within five of the six research areas presented in Figure 2-1, in order to achieve the EU 20-20-20 goals, as well as to obtain the envisioned CO<sub>2</sub> reduction of 80% by 2050, despite the high acquisition and maintenance costs. The integration of storage technologies, addressing different needs (e.g. quick response, high grid security, long-term energy storage, lowering peak demand, among others) will help tackling these challenges.



Figure 2-1 – Research areas in Strategic Research Agenda for Europe's electricity networks of the future (SmartGrids, 2012)

Electric grids such as the Danish, with a high wind power and distributed generation penetration, are being envisioned as the model of future electricity networks in many countries. Although about 20% of the total electricity demand of Denmark was met by wind power alone in 2007, there are still ambitious targets to increase the wind power penetration to 50%. In this context, different technologies are being examined, including storage (Divya & Østergaard, 2009). In fact, the integration of renewable sources requires considerable further development of storage systems to contribute for a more sustainable energy use (H. Chen et al., 2009), (Ibrahim et al., 2008). Despite all the associated constraints regarding the current electric energy storage technologies, they have strong potential benefits, such as the ability to stabilize the highly variable load diagram, making it as constant as possible, thus creating a sustainable, efficient, reliable and environmentally friendly alternative to the conventional energy system (H. Chen et al., 2009). Faruqui et al (2007) also highlighted the ability to improve the load factor because a great percentage of the installed capacity is only used during roughly 80 to 100 hours/year, corresponding to 8-12% of load factor. In other words, much of the installed capacity is currently underutilized due to the short periods of operation at full load, because there is no alternative solution.

Even considering the high acquisition and maintenance costs of current technologies, the role of ESS is considered crucial and, therefore, it is very important to capture the maximum added value of energy storage (SmartGrids, 2012).

### 2.1.1 Electric energy storage operation

By the year 2035 it is expected that a large fraction of the generation capacity in Europe will have irregular and/or highly variable availability. Due to technological improvements, it is expected that ESS in Europe and USA will grow by 10 to 15% (and by larger figures in Japan), in a near future, motivating a major change in the electricity industry (H. Chen et al., 2009). The development of ESS is essential to the achievement of a more flexible and controllable electric network (e.g. smart grids), enabling higher levels of demand side management, increased proximity of generation to the loads, integration of non-dispatchable generation from renewable sources, and other forms of decentralized production (Ipakchi & Albuyeh, 2009), (Beer et al., 2012).

Although ESS are being envisaged as an important part of a smarter grid, their usefulness may apply to the existing grid technologies as long as there is a communication system that links them to the distribution system operator (DSO). Nevertheless, the use of smart grids is crucial to make full use of the capabilities of smaller and larger generation and loads.

Some authors propose the introduction of an aggregator in order to fully realize the benefits of ESS (Battistelli et al., 2012), (Kristoffersen et al., 2011). However the need to develop the power system beyond the closed infrastructure of an aggregator is also defended, to address specific needs, in such a way that all generation and consumption units can participate automatically and individually as ancillary services, without the need for the control by the DSO, transmission system operator (TSO), utility or even an aggregator (SmartGrids, 2012).

Within a smart grid paradigm of network management, some authors defend that the increase of storage capacity, besides solving network problems, may facilitate the adoption of plug-in hybrid vehicles or electric vehicles (EV), mitigating some requests from the network (Sovacool & Hirsh, 2009), (Ipakchi & Albuyeh, 2009).

The use of intelligent charging/discharging (C/D) management schemes could release network capacity, minimizing or deferring supply-side capacity expansion, decreasing network losses and overall electric systems running costs (both in production and delivery costs), avoiding short interruptions and some voltage quality problems, shaving power peaks and smoothing load curves (Lassila et al., 2012), (Almeida et al., 2011),(Lopes et al., 2011),(Martins, 1999), (Sutanto & Lachs, 1998).

Different market operation frameworks within the smart grid concept are also presented as important tools to avoid other new types of problems such as potential shortage of generation capacity or the increased difficulty in optimizing the management of the grid to accommodate new dispersed loads and generators that could significantly influence the mix of generation and consequently, electricity prices and emissions (Hadley & Tsvetkova, 2009), (Rocha Almeida et al., 2010). Within this paradigm the confidence on the impact assessment is influenced by the used grid control architecture as well as by other characteristics such as the network connections and used storage technology (Rocha Almeida et al., 2010). The key characteristics of available technologies of accumulators are their energy densities

(up to 150 and 2000Wh/kg for lithium) and technological maturity. Generally the Ragone's diagram is used (Ibrahim et al., 2008) to represent the performance in terms of ratio of mass to energy and power. Although this diagram is useful when the size of the storage systems is important, it is not enough. Even considering the present technology limitations, instantaneous, short-term and mid-term applications seem to be commercially feasible. Although the storage of large amounts of energy would be desirable, even batteries of modest power and able to deliver only during seconds or minutes, seem to be cost-effective when designed for storage periods of less than 5 h (Divya & Østergaard, 2009).

#### 2.1.2 Electric energy storage possible applications and services

The adoption of distributed energy storage allows an optimization of resources by providing the capability of effectively balancing supply and demand (Kintner-Meyer. et al., 2007), (EPRI, 2010), (Ibrahim et al., 2008), (Lopes et al., 2011). The ideal ESS solution in urban environments should have means of rapidly damp oscillations, respond to sudden changes in load, supply load during transmission or distribution interruptions, provide spinning reserve, correct load voltage profiles with rapid reactive power control, and still allow the generators to balance the system load at their normal speed (Sutanto & Lachs, 1998), (Ribeiro et al., 2001), (Lopes et al., 2011), (Almeida et al., 2011).

Nevertheless, according to several sources, (Electricity Storage Association, 2011; Ibrahim et al., 2008; S. M. Schoenung & Hassenzahl, 2003; S. M. Schoenung, 2001), current batteries are mature and with appropriate technologies, able to be used in network applications. For instance, there are 190 sites in Japan with more than 270MW of stored energy suitable for 6 hours of daily peak shaving (Electricity Storage Association, 2011). In Bewag (Germany), 7 MW/14MWh batteries were installed for frequency regulation; and the Chino substation of Southern California Edison, has 10MW/40MWh for load levelling, rapid spinning reserve and instantaneous frequency control (Divya & Østergaard, 2009).

According to Barton and Infield (2004), possible benefits of increased energy storage capacity (spanning a few hours) are both the relief of stress situations of the distribution electric grid and an improved use of reactive power. The first would allow the network to respond to higher demand levels without causing excessive load flow

in the transmission network, and the latter responds to voltage disturbances caused by embedded renewable generation.



Figure 2-2 – Challenges and Benefits in the electricity chain (H. Chen et al., 2009)



Figure 2-3 – Energy storage applications into grid (H. Chen et al., 2009)

According to H. Chen et al. (2009), Figure 2-2 and Figure 2-3 present the possible applications of ESS. These authors and F. Rahman et al. (2012) claim that electric energy storage technologies provide three primary functions: energy management, bridging power, power quality and reliability. However, there are other definitions for more specific applications. It is important to note that no single storage system based on commercially available technologies currently meets all the requirements for an ideal electric ESS - being mature, having a long lifetime, low cost, high density and high efficiency, and being environmentally benign. Each storage system has a suitable application range. For utility applications, cost is the most important factor and storage facilities need to be sized in tens or hundreds of megawatts with a few

hours duration. On the other hand, automotive applications have small footprints and high power outputs (F. Rahman et al., 2012).

According to H. Chen et al. (2009), each service previously presented can be performed as one of the options in Table 2-1.

Service	Power rating	Application
Medium-scale energy	10 - 100MW	Load leveling, ramping/load following, and spinning
management		reserve;
Bridaina nower	0.1 -10MW	Assure continuity of service when switching from one
Bridging power	0.1 - 1010100	source of energy generation to another
Dowor quality	Lower than 1 MW	Voltage drop, flicker mitigation and short duration
Fower quality		uninterruptible power supply (UPS)

Table 2-1 - Application Category Specifications (H. Chen et al., 2009)

We can observe that the capacity range for each application is not well defined in Table 2-1 and Table 2-2, varying among authors. Moreover, energy storage capacity is specifically determined by the time duration required for delivery or discharge. Applications tend to fall into time categories of very short, short, long, and very long duration, as shown in Table 2-3, according to the time category applications recognized by utilities and customers.

Table 2-2 - Application Category Specifications (S. M. Schoenung & Hassenzahl, 2003)

Representative Applications	Discharge Power Range	<sup>-</sup> Discharge Time Range	Stored Energy Range
Load levelling, spinning reserve	10-1000 MW	1-8 hrs	10-8000 MWh
Peak shaving, transmission deferral	100-2000 kW	0.5-4 hrs	50-8000 kWh
End-use power quality and reliability	0.1-2 MW	1-30 sec	0.1-60 MJ (0.028-16.67 kWh)

Considering the Portuguese supply failures presented by the DSO in 2011(EDP Distribuição, 2011), the majority of distribution grid problems were related to short duration problems. Hereupon and given the following Table 2-3 information, we may conclude that electric ESS seems suited for applications of short and very short duration, such as transmission and distribution stabilization or renewable matching.

Very short duration	Short duration	Long duration	Very long duration
End-use ride through, power quality, motor starting; Transit; T&D stabilization.	Distributed generation (peaking); End-use peak shaving (to avoid demand charges); Spinning reserve – rapid response within 3 sec to avoid automatic shift; Spinning reserve – conventional (respond within 10 min); Telecommunications back-up; Renewable matching (intermittent); Uninterruptible Power Supply;	Generation, load leveling; Ramping, load following.	Emergency back- up; Seasonal storage; Renewables back- up.

Table 2-3 – Types of applications as a function of time span duration (S. M. Schoenung, 2001)

Considering the possible exchange of ancillary services between the TSO and DSO, the existence of a storage system in the distribution grid might be a solution to perform ancillary services in a more cost-effective way (SmartGrids, 2012). Different technologies may be used for different applications, according to the discharge time: technologies with a long discharge time will be used to secure the capacity of renewable energy sources (RES), while those with a short discharge time will be adopted to perform frequency regulation or voltage control.

As small distributed generation systems are expected to spread in urban environments with their almost random, uncontrolled nature, the assessment of the value of small scale storage against supply interruptions will be very important (SmartGrids, 2012). In order to understand the technical and economic viability of each type of system, it is important to assess all the associated costs and benefits, and verify whether there is overall economic justification (SmartGrids, 2012), (Hittinger et al., 2012). This will certainly lead to further research development related to the distribution network management.

The energy service to be provided determines the technology to be used, which has to be assessed in order to ensure cost-effectiveness (Hittinger et al., 2012). Considering the storage properties of li-ion batteries and Supercapacitors, the sensitivity analysis performed by (Hittinger et al., 2012) showed that capital cost, length of capital investment and efficiency have the largest potential in cost-of-service reduction. Still according to the same authors, peak shaving and frequency regulation are the most capital cost dependent energy services.

Providing energy services such as frequency regulation to the grid is becoming more necessary as the use of renewable energy increases. In 2010, the frequency regulation market was worth US\$495 million. This is a new market for flywheels,

which are fast-acting regulators, needing just a few seconds to perform frequency regulation, which makes them a more efficient regulator than major conventional power plants (Fairley, 2011). Moreover, battery-based frequency regulators based on fixed utilities, such as AES<sup>1</sup> in Johnson city-N.Y. or in electric vehicles infrastructures, which have a lower unitary cost, are one of the present biggest competitors of the flywheel (Fairley, 2011).

The various battery technologies are different not only on their physical layout, chemical composition and energy density, but also on their voltage and current output characteristics. As such, the power conversion interface may differ for each technology, and each will have unique time-varying output that must be matched. Other operational features, such as efficiency and size, also vary among technologies (Table 2-4).

Table 2-4 - Energy Storage System Characteristics(S. M. Schoenung, 2001)

Capital cost	Operating features	Other technology- specific costs	Size	Siting issues
Balance of Plant; Energy-related; Power-related.	Efficiency; O&M costs; Cycle or shelf life;	Parasitics; Replacement;	Storage equipment; Power conversion system.	Environmental Safety; Other features;

Despite being the weakest link of the energy domain, storage systems could play a very important role in maintaining system reliability, dynamic stability, enhanced power quality, transmission capacity and area protection (Ibrahim et al., 2008; F. Rahman et al., 2012; Ribeiro et al., 2001), presenting a positive cost and environmental impact by reducing fuel consumption and emissions through reduced line losses, and reducing the need of idle generation for frequency stabilization (H. Chen et al., 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Based Power firm AES - Frequency regulation facility with 22MW lithium batteries from A123 Systems with total cost of 22 Million US dollars.
#### 2.1.3 Barriers to electric energy storage

The operation of battery based ESS is constrained in capacity and storage balances, for grid connections and batteries. According to Kristoffersen et al. (2011) and Kempton and Tomić (2005) the constraints include:

- nominal capacity of batteries;
- battery wear costs, related to the life cycle of each technology;
- capacity limits for the ESS connection to the grid, related to existing physical electric infrastructure interfaces, such as wires and other circuitry connection and/or the rated maximum power of the interface's power electronics.

One possible storage solution often referred in the literature is the EV storage infrastructure. However, it presents several limitations, namely: the unpredictability of vehicle (batteries) connection to the network, the uncertainty of the willingness of their users to present themselves as potential power providers, or the increase of harmonic and voltage problems, and of line losses, leading to a power quality degradation (Ipakchi & Albuyeh, 2009), (Gerkensmeyer et al., 2010), (Lopes et al., 2011). Therefore, the use of stationary systems can be seen as more predictable, enabling the grid manager to choose the most effective location of ESS in the network.

Ibrahim, Ilinca, and Perron (2008) pointed out the low durability for large-amplitude cycling as the main inconvenient, and Sovacool and Hirsh (2009) defends that a major issue to the adoption of a distributed storage infrastructure is also the existence of some resistance by network operators to integrate resources (e.g. batteries) which they do not manage.

Divya & Østergaard (2009) outline some of the reasons for a small deployment of storage systems such as the existence of a large number of conventional generators that can be adjusted to match the load demand (LD), and the interconnection of areas which can help to balance the LD. However, this scenario is changing due to the current high rate of deployment of renewable energy sources and the existing limits in the interconnections. Additionally, the lack of practical experience and availability of tools to perform optimization of operational costs, and to assess the benefits of storage technology (considering the market models) during planning, justify the motivation to develop such a methodology.

#### 2.1.4 Economic ESS costs

The immediate success of battery ESS in rapid and short term applications is due to their capability of reacting instantly to system disturbances, which a conventional generator set cannot do (Divya & Østergaard, 2009). The mid-term battery ESS applications (less than 5 hours), based on dispersed ownership as in V2G applications, could become commercially viable if the utilities have a degree of control of the set of battery units in a way that make them useful to manage and control the power system, reducing operational costs. However, to make this idea feasible, an adequate framework needs to be developed (Divya & Østergaard, 2009), (Lopes et al., 2011), (Rocha Almeida et al., 2010).

Aiming at the economic viability of an ESS to provide a specific energy service, some authors argue that ESS should perform all the possible services in order to obtain the highest possible profit (Hittinger et al., 2012). The research and technological innovation is proposed as a key element for decreasing the capital costs, being the perception of technologies with greater potential for reductions in capital costs seen as essential to the future of ESS (Hittinger et al., 2012).

The valuation of associated costs and benefits of ESS may vary among authors, but some basic principles are used by all of them. Schoenung (2011) defined a general way to assess both costs and benefits of ESS. In the proposed method the capital costs ( $C_c$ ) in [ $\in$ ] are the sum of power conversion ( $Cost_{pcs}$ ) and the energy storage ( $Cost_{storage}$ ) unit costs, as presented in equation (1).

$$C_c = Cost_{pcs} + Cost_{storage} \tag{1}$$

The power conversion unit costs are proportional to the power rating of the system as shown in equation (2).

$$Cost_{pcs}[\mathbf{f}] = UnitCost_{pcs}[\mathbf{f}/kW] \times P[kW]$$
(2)

The energy storage unit costs are proportional to the amount of energy stored (*E*) considering the round-trip efficiency<sup>2</sup> ( $\eta$ ), as presented in equation (3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Round-trip efficiency is the ratio of total energy storage system output (discharge) divided by total energy input (charge), measured at the interconnection point.

$$Cost_{storage}[\pounds] = UnitCost_{storage}[\pounds/kWh] \times \frac{E[kWh]}{\eta}$$
(3)

The annualized capital costs ( $c_{ac}$ ) are obtained by multiplying the total capital cost with a capital recovery factor (CRF), as presented in equation (4).

$$c_{ac} = C_c \times CRF \tag{4}$$

The CRF can be obtained using the equation (5) formula:

$$CRF = \frac{d(1+d)^n}{(1+d)^n - 1} = \frac{d}{1 - (1+d)^{-n}}$$
(5)

where,

- *d* is the discount rate, dimensionless;
- *n* is the expected lifetime of the equipment in years;

The CRF converts the present value into a stream of equal annual payments over a specified time, at a specified discount rate, i.e., it is the ratio of a constant annuity to the present value of receiving that annuity during certain time.

Depending on the performed service, different parameters are used to assess the net benefit (subtracting the cost to the assessed benefits). Although with small differences, other authors aim to assess costs and revenues in a very similar way, as shown in Table 2-5 example.

Energy Service	Peak power (Lassila et al., 2012)	Peak power (Kempton & Tomić, 2005)
Revenue	$r = \Delta P_{peak} C_{inv}$	$r = p_{el} E_{disp}$
Cost	$c = \frac{C_{en}E_{charge}}{\eta} + (1 - \eta)E_{charge}C_{grid\_en}$	$c = c_{en}E_{disp} + c_{ac}$

Table 2-5 – Two perspectives for peak power service revenue and costs

In equations shown in Table 2-5,  $c_{en}$  is the cost of each energy unit produced (delivered to network) [€/kWh], in Kempton and Tomic' (2005)  $p_{el}$  is the market rate (tariff) of electricity [€/kWh],  $E_{disp}$  is the total energy dispatched over the contract period [kWh],  $c_{ac}$  are the annualized capital costs [€/year]. Lassila et al. (2012) defined  $E_{charge}$  as the amount of electricity stored to battery [kWh], and  $C_{grid\_en}$  the cost of delivered energy depending on the technology [€/kWh],  $C_{inv}$  is the average

marginal cost (AMC) per year [ $\notin$ /kWh],  $\Delta P_{peak}$  is the capacity increase [kW], and the  $\eta$  is the efficiency of the C/D cycle.

Kempton and Tomić (2005) present other expressions to quantify the costs and benefits for different services, based on the same general approach.

Energy Service	Spinning reserve	Regulation services
Revenue	$r = p_{el}E_{disp} + p_{cap}P_{disp}t_{disp}$	$r = p_{el}R_{d-c}P_{disp}t_{disp} + p_{cap}P_{disp}t_{disp}$
Cost	$c = c_{en} \left( \sum_{i=1}^{N_{disp}} P_{disp} t_{disp} \right) + c_{ac}$	$c = c_{en} R_{d-c} P_{disp} t_{disp} + c_{ac}$

Table 2-6 - Revenues and costs presented by (Kempton & Tomić, 2005)

In Table 2-6,  $R_{d-c}$  is the dispatch to contract ratio (dimensionless), measured according equation (6),  $t_{disp}$  is the time during which the power is dispatched [h],  $p_{cap}$  is the capacity price [ $\notin$ /kWh] and  $P_{disp}$  is the power of each dispachable storage unit [kW],  $P_{contr}$  is the contracted capacity [kW] and  $t_{contr}$  is the duration of the contract [h].

$$R_{d-c} = \frac{E_{disp}}{P_{contr}t_{contr}}$$
(6)

The inclusion of societal, environmental and technical contributions, when using ESS, could also be considered. Equation (7) shows one possible way to assess the benefit for peak power services, considering them at least equal to avoided grid reinforcements, using the EV available battery capacity (Lassila et al., 2012).

$$Reinforcement = C_{inv} \Delta P_{peak}$$
(7)

In equation (7),  $\Delta P_{peak}$  is the power capacity decreased on the feeder [kW] and  $C_{inv}$  is the AMC on the feeder [ $\in$ /kW].

In order to augment the ESS aggregated benefit, several authors propose to combine the associated impacts with more or less overlapped benefits as shown in Figure 2-4.



Figure 2-4 - Market Estimation for Combined Applications/Benefits: Market Intersection (Eyer et al., 2004)

In many cases more than one advantage is required from storage for benefits to exceed costs. However, careful consideration of operational, technical, and market details is required before considering all the possible benefits. Operational objectives involve conflicting uses for storage, e.g. between power output and duration of delivery (Eyer et al., 2004).

In some cases ESS are physically unable to serve more than one need. As an example, ESS are unable to simultaneously tolerate frequent deep discharges and/or significant cycling. Storage systems well suited to the transmission and distribution upgrade deferral applications, are probably not suitable for energy price arbitrage <sup>3</sup>(Eyer et al., 2004).

Another example is when storage cannot respond very rapidly to changing line conditions. Such systems may be suitable for energy arbitrage or to reduce demand charges but may not be able to provide transmission support or end-user power quality benefits.

Eyer et al. (2004) provides a summary of key standard assumption values used for evaluating benefits, market potential, and total economic benefits from storage used for specific applications and/or for specific benefits, as shown in Table 2-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Advantage from buying and selling energy in different market price periods

Application/Papafit	Discharge Duration* Minimum Highest Be		Lifecycle	Maximum 10-	Ten-year Economic
Application/Benefit			Benefits (\$/kW)	Potential (MW)	Benefits (\$Million)**
Bulk Electricity Price Arbitrage	1	10	200 to 300	735	147 to 220
Central Generation Capacity	4	6	215#	3,200	688
Ancillary Services	1	5	72***	800	58
Transmission Support	2 Sec.	5Sec.	169	1,000	169
Reduce Transmission Access Requirements	1	6	72***	3,200	230
Transmission Congestion Relief	2	6	72***	3,200	230
Distribution Upgrade Deferral 50th Percentile of Benefits	2	6	666#	804	536
Distribution Upgrade Deferral 90th Percentile of Benefits	2	6	1,067#	161	172
Transmission Upgrade Deferral	4	6	650#	1,092	710
Time-of-Use Energy Cost Management	2	see tariff	1,004	4,005	4,021
Demand Charge Management	6	11	465#	4,005	1,862
End-user Electric Service Reliability	0.25	5	359#	4,005	1,438
Electric Service Power Quality	10 sec.	1 Min.	717#	4,005	2,872
Renewables Capacity Firming	6	10	172##	1,800	310
Renewables Contractual Time-of- Production Payments	6	10	655##	500	328

Table 2-7 - Summary of Key Standard Assumptions and Calculations for Applications of Storage in<br/>the State of California (Eyer et al., 2004)

\*Hours unless other units are specified.

\*\*Over ten years, based on lifecycle benefits times maximum market potential (market estimates will be lower).

\*\*\*Placeholder values. The actual benefit was not estimated.

#Does not include incidental energy-related benefit. ; ##Wind generation.

Whenever possible, it is very important to assess the AMC of a specific ESS, since the procedures of current energy markets are used to define which units are the first to provide services to the network. In order to provide data on the cost of selected storage technologies some guidance is presented in Table 2-8. The exact information depends on the manufacturer, the application and usage. However, it is a good basis for establishing some assumptions in further studies.

	Capital o	costs	O&M Costs	
Technology	Power conversion (€/kW)	Storage unit (€/kWh)	Fixed O&M costs (€/kW.year)	
PHS	900	56		
CAES	520	4		
Advanced Pb-acid batteries	300	250		
Pb-acid batteries with carbon- enhanced electrodes	300	250		
Li-ion batteries	300	450		
NaS batteries	260	260	30-40	
ZEBRA batteries		400-500		
ZnBr batteries	300	300		
VRB batteries	300; 1750	450; 215	40,000 (1MW/6h)- 230,000 (10MW/6h)b	
Flywheels (high speed composite)	450	1195		
Supercapacitors	370	7470		

Table 2-8 - Capital and O&M costs of selected technologies(J. Vasconcelos et al., 2012)

It should be noted that the DEESS evaluation impact is not indifferent to the technology considered. Moreover, S. M. Schoenung & Hassenzahl (2003) also argue that the real benefit should be assessed considering the distribution of ESS in the network, given a specific technology and considering market parameters, such as electricity costs and interest rates. Finally according to Lassila et al. (2012), the ESS management can be more effective if the network operator owns the storage system.

## 2.2 Assessment methodologies

Previous research assessing the impact of energy storage systems (ESS) on the power system operation and economics has been focused on economic/optimal sizing. As such, ESS have been modelled from the point of view of cost (economic models) or with a focus on the assessment of operational benefits, modelling the ESS response to power system disturbances at appropriate time scales or operational models, as shown in Table 2-9 (Divya & Østergaard, 2009).

Table 2-9 – Battery ESS models for economics and power systems studies (Divya & Østergaard	I,
2009)	

BESS models used for economic analysis	BESS models for power system studies
<ul> <li>Utility side applications;</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>BESSpower system reliability analysis;</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Demand side applications.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>BESSpower system stability analysis.</li> </ul>

The majority of studies performing economic analyses of ESS considered vertically integrated utilities, not incorporating market models to assess the benefits of ESS for the current deregulated market. From the operational side, most studies on the impact on power systems generally do not refer to any particular battery technology, or to any limitation of the performance of ESS (Divya & Østergaard, 2009). Nevertheless, some authors have included technology characteristics in their models (Fossati et al., 2015), (Dufo-López & Bernal-Agustín, 2015).

Focusing on the economic side, some authors presented methodologies for evaluating the associated costs and benefits of energy storage by analyzing single specific services (S. Schoenung, 2011), (Kempton & Tomić, 2005). However, none of these studies consider the relation of an ESS management scheme with its associated impacts on the electric grid performance.

Aiming to increase wind farms power dispatchability (power firming) Le and Nguyen (2008) developed an analytical approach to find a rating for the most-profitable ESS. Some of the considered benefits were the revenue from higher renewable integration into the network (higher capacity), the revenue from generation capacity firming, the revenue from improved grid voltage stability, the revenue from improved grid reliability and the revenue related to environmental benefits such as reduced greenhouse gas(GHG) emissions. Those authors also concluded that the quality of results depends on the measurement and verification methods, and on the accuracy of the calculation methods, which should be established within the research community and the power industry.

Concerning operational benefits, the advantages of ESS led to the development of the V2G concept, a long-held idea of an option to provide specific energy services to the grid based on connected EVs capacity. Different methodologies were then applied to analyze their contribution to the grid (Lassila et al., 2012), (Lopes et al., 2011), (Kristoffersen et al., 2011), (Balcells & Garcia, 2010). However, the uncertainty associated with the location of EV led some authors to focus on this

constraint (Battistelli et al., 2012). To assess the possible contribution in terms of energy exchange to the electricity network, Lassila et al (2012) tested the effect of different C/D management schemes to provide specific energy services.

Considering the technical characterization requirements to perform power services studies (e.g. regulation services), some authors have used island case studies or simplified grid models to ease the application of those methodologies (Sigrist et al., 2013), (Almeida et al., 2011), (Lim et al., 2011).

As mentioned previously, most studies in the literature focused on only one type of assessment (either technical or economical), and usually did not provide more than one option for a DM. However, effective decisions over the subject will need to simultaneously consider both kinds of objectives (and even different objectives of each kind), and should imply a multiobjective optimization procedure.

Le et al (2012) presented a multiobjective methodology for calculating a reference output profile, using a C/D scheme for guiding the ESS operation, together with an economic assessment for compensating wind power variation through storage, and an optimization-based method for determining the ESS optimal rating. Regarding the technical side, and envisaging to fill the gap between the real and the desired profiles, these authors used an optimum power flow analysis (OPF) program to define a suitable storage power output for a given network. Regarding the economical side, they determined the ratings of the ESS by an optimization-based method, considering a cost-based objective function that maximizes the net benefit and takes into account five possible benefit factors, namely the revenues earned from: saving and integrating an amount of wind power into the grid, wind farm capacity firming, improved voltage stability, improved reliability, and environmental considerations.



Figure 2-5 – Illustration of simplified wind output profile and desired output (Le & Nguyen, 2008)

Recent multiobjective methodologies, based on different strategies, have been developed to obtain the most suited daily profile of the state of charge of batteries (whose locations depend on the average loads of network buses), minimizing (i) the energy losses in the electric network, (ii) the total electricity generation cost and (iii) the GHG emissions (Ippolito et al., 2014).

Articles	Objective	Working principles
(Le et al., 2012), (Le & Nguyen, 2008)	Wind Power penetration and cost analysis	Reference power output and remaining energy for energy services.
(Lassila et al., 2012)	Methodology to estimate energy storage feasibility	Considering the technical limits and load diagram
(T. Chen et al., 2013)	Method to evaluate advantages of ESS.	Based on energy rates
(Koyanagi & Uriu, 1998)	Time shift method for time control	Considered time patterns of use
(S. Rahman & Shrestha, 1993)	Analysis of impact method on the distribution system	User defined periods based on technical data.
(Nguyen et al., 2012)	Framework for determining the optimal charging/discharging of BES	Using predicted production profiles valued with day-ahead and real- time prices
(Ippolito et al., 2014)	Definition of some stratagies for design and the optimized management of ESS	Multiobjective optimization using different design strategies

Table 2-10 – Literature review regarding ESS working schemes.

Table 2-10 summarizes the approaches used in the literature in order to establish the operating scheme of storage units. Modified profiles are commonly used to assess the impact of C/D batteries (e.g. EVs) in the power grid, or evaluating impacts on load diagrams (T. Chen et al., 2013; Koyanagi & Uriu, 1998; Lassila et al., 2012; Le & Nguyen, 2008; Le et al., 2012; Leou, 2012; Nguyen et al., 2012; Qian

et al., 2011; S. Rahman & Shrestha, 1993). In order to avoid new peaks, S. Rahman and Shrestha (1993) and Koyanagi and Uriu (1998) proposed the need of proper incentives and market regulation. Both the creation of limits to use the excess energy available, according to grid requirements and the time shift control, regulating the charging schedules in the network, were presented as adequate mechanisms to avoid new network power peaks.

As already stated, other ESS advantages are the ability to postpone grid reinforcements, to avoid short interruptions and voltage quality problems, to shave power peaks and to smooth load curves (Lassila et al., 2012). However, the economic attractiveness of ESS is not guaranteed, especially due to the high capital cost (when compared to alternative technologies). Therefore, the proposal of a feed-in tariff scheme is justified to increase the interest of investors (Dufo-López & Bernal-Agustín, 2015).

The main obstacle to ESS deployment seems to be the corresponding investment costs and the reluctance of network operators to integrate resources that they do not manage (Sovacool & Hirsh, 2009). To overcome these barriers, it is crucial to improve the assessment of application and benefits of these systems, namely by developing operational tools to select the quantity and location of these resources, optimize the operational cost and assess the benefits of storage during the planning phase (EPRI, 2010), (Divya & Østergaard, 2009).

Drawing on the existing literature, several potential simulation tools for network analysis may be applied, considering distribution networks, EVs and energy storage applications.

Article	Used Software Program	Analysis Type	Objective
(Lopes et al., 2011)	PSSE software Matlab/simulink	Steady-state and power flow analysis	Conceptual framework to integrate electric vehicles
(Rocha Almeida et al., 2010)	Plansys software	Dynamic simulation of power systems	Study the impact of EV in the automatic generation control operation
(Balcells & Garcia, 2010)	MATLAB – Simulink and the toolbox Sim Power Systems	Harmonic analysis	Establish a design guide for parking facilities.
(Cvetkovic et al., 2009)	LabVIEW	Power flow analysis	Presents the concept of a future home uninterruptible renewable energy system with V2G technology implementation.
(Dyke et al., 2010)	Mathworks Matlab Simulink	Load flow analysis	Establishes a series of well-defined electric vehicle loads that are subsequently used to analyze their electrical energy usage and storage in the context of more electrified road transportation.
(Pieltain Fernandez et al., 2011)	Reference Network Model from Regulators	Power flow analyses.	Give a comprehensive approach for evaluating the impact of different levels of PEV penetration on distribution network investment and incremental energy losses.
(Koyanagi & Uriu, 1998)	Generic	Mathematical modeling	Propose a positive utilization of the electric vehicles for load leveling
(Kristoffersen et al., 2011)	Generic	Framework	Presents a mathematical programming model for optimal charging and discharging of the electric vehicles
(Moses et al., 2010)	Matlab (DHPF- Decoupled harmonic power flow)	Load flow analysis	Highlights and demonstrates potential power quality problems that can occur in a smart grid operating with Plug-in Electric Vehicles
(Pillai & Bak- Jensen, 2010)	DIgSILENT	Load flow analysis	Investigates the impacts of increasing EV loads in a typical Danish primary distribution network
(S. Rahman & Shrestha, 1993)	Generic	Mathematical modeling	Investigate the impact of EV load on the electric utility distribution system.

Table 2-11 - ESS studies applying potential simulation software to	ols
--	-----

Table 2-11 summarizes a selection of studies applying potential software tools. In most studies, load power flow analysis was combined with power demand profiles of the distribution grid to quantify the technical impact of each solution. In order to assess the best location, avoiding pre-defined scenarios, the use of techniques that can combine grid characteristics, load diagrams, supply diagrams and C/D diagrams of ESS, will be important to obtain the maximum benefit from storage. Leou (2012), and T. Chen et al. (2013) used genetic algorithms (GA) whose results only differ in the fitness function factors. The use of GA enables a multiobjective approach especially useful to problems that do not have a unique optimal result but a set of non-dominated or efficient solutions (the choice depending on the relative importance of each objective to the DM).

As a result of using a multiobjective approach the possible use of interactivity should be explored, helping the DM to obtain the desired results without the need to map his/her preferences to hard values assigned to weights of each objective function (Gonçalves et al., 2013).

#### 2.2.1 Evaluation objectives

Table 2-12 lists a set of studies from the literature<sup>4</sup>, identifying the most often used objectives when evaluating ESS, and optimization techniques, including the use of genetic algorithms. Depending of the scope and application, different arguments can be used to select evaluation criteria.

Article	Considered issues	Technique
(T. Chen et al., 2013)	<ul> <li>Electric Fee Saving;</li> <li>Line Loss Reduction;</li> <li>Average Voltage Deviation.</li> </ul>	Multiobjective optimization algorithm
(Leou, 2012)	<ul> <li>Energy price arbitrage;</li> <li>Reducing transmission access cost;</li> <li>Facility investment deferral;</li> <li>Investment cost;</li> <li>Operating and maintenance cost.</li> </ul>	Genetic algorithm with linear programming
(Lassila et al., 2012)	<ul> <li>Investment costs of the network;</li> <li>Operational costs of the network;</li> <li>Investment costs of the energy storage;</li> <li>Operational costs of the energy storage.</li> </ul>	Methodological framework
(Miyauchi & Tashiro, 2009)	<ul> <li>Reactive Power Supply Index;</li> <li>Transmission Loss Reduction Index;</li> <li>Bus Voltage Sustainability Index.</li> </ul>	Evaluation method
(Sahoo & Prasad, 2006)	<ul> <li>Voltage stability.</li> </ul>	Fuzzy genetic approach

Table 2-12 – Summary of energy storage assessment issues referred in the literature.

In the multiobjective approaches presented in Table 2-12, all authors presented fitness functions where the objectives were equally weighted. The main difference between studies regarded the used objectives to perform the impact evaluation.

More concern with economic aspects, (Lassila et al., 2012; Leou, 2012) focused their assessment in the associated benefits from charged and discharged energy, between ESS and the network, in different time periods. Leou (2012) additionally included the economic benefits from reducing the transmission access costs and from deferring facility investments. Moreover, both authors considered the investment costs and the maintenance costs of the ESS and for the network.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A broader analysis could be found in (Lassila et al., 2012)

The use of network data not easily available, and in some cases restricted, such as the investment and maintenance cost of the network or the benefits from deferring facility investments turn those objectives difficult to use.

T. Chen et al. (2013) developed a multiobjective methodology that enables the use of public available or easy to obtain data, to assess the ESS impact from the point of view of the network operation. The electricity fee saving was assessed by subtracting the costs of the stored energy from the revenues resulting from selling during higher market prices periods. Different scenarios of losses and average voltage deviations are compared with the reference network (without storage) to assess the impacts of DEESS on line loss reduction and average voltage. However, the use of a fitness function where all objectives have the same representativeness restricts the assessment of individual objective impacts.

Also considering equal weights for the three objective functions Miyauchi and Tashiro (2009) performed a technical assessment of the reactive power value using the transmission losses, the voltage stability and the reactive power supply of conventional generators as performance indices.

Finally, and focused on network reconfiguration Sahoo and Prasad (2006) developed a fuzzy genetic approach using only the voltage stability index to assess the technical impact on the network.

Drawing on the literature review, one can conclude that investment and operation costs, together with energy tariffs, are important factors for the economic analysis and voltage stability, as well as active power losses are important factors for technical analysis.

# 2.3 Multiobjective optimization and genetic algorithms

A diversity of methodologies have been used for solving optimization problems, leading the classical mathematical operations towards a knowledge based on human behavior intelligence and Nature. Evolutionary algorithms (EA) are one of the solutions developed to combine search techniques and optimization. Inspired on natural evolution mechanisms and genetics, the EA works with several solutions simultaneously, providing a set of individuals generally designated by population. By applying the algorithm, a set of individuals with a starting low rate of survival or environmental fitness, can evolve over several generations. Based on nature evolution process, the most fit individuals are retained by natural selection passing their traits to the next generation, combining features in so-called offspring, or leading to new specimens through a mutation process that change their characteristics for better environment adaptation.

Most of the real problems usually involve multiple objective optimization and decision making, and engineering is one of the areas where the existence of conflictive objectives is most likely to appear, causing limitations on one or more objectives and associated difficulties in the optimization process. The ability to work with a population of potential conflictive solutions in every generation, enables EA to effectively solve many real problems, as shown its wide application in the literature.

An operational optimization tool that comprises a search technique for exact or approximate solutions, based on the evolution of organisms, is the Genetic algorithms (GA), which belong to the larger class of EA.

#### 2.3.1 Improved NSGAII

GA have been widely used in several fields, such as economic dispatch, reconfiguration of power networks, optimal placement of capacitors or inductors, and optimal power flow analysis (T. Chen et al., 2013). Conventional GA, however, may get stuck at a local optimum, or have slow convergence speed. In order to overcome these shortcomings, many researchers have aimed to improve the performance of GA (R. M. Vitorino et al., 2009), (Sahoo & Prasad, 2006), (J. A. Vasconcelos et al., 2001).

A GA multiobjective approach allows the integration of different non correlated objectives, but the existence of multiple conflicting objectives prevents the achievement of an optimal. In such a case, the DM has to analyze a set of non-dominated solutions, or solutions which are no worse than all others at least in one aspect (objective) in order to establish tradeoffs and to choose the option that better represents his/her preferences.

The Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm-II (NSGA-II) is a particular case of a multiobjective GA implementation which has proved to be efficient, especially in power distribution operation and planning problems. Detailed information regarding the working principle of this tool can be found in (Deb et al., 2002).

GA use genetic operators, such as crossover, cloning and mutation, to perform genetic manipulation in order to generate new individuals with characteristics of both parents.

An improved NSGA-II (iNSGA-II) was proposed in (Romeu M Vitorino et al., 2013), replacing the fixed genetic operators of conventional NSGA-II with a dynamic adaptation of crossover (*pc*) and mutation (*pm*) probabilities, according to the genetic diversity in the population. The advantages of the method are further described in (R. M. Vitorino et al., 2009), (R.M. Vitorino et al., 2013).



Figure 2-6 – Genetic manipulation process of IGA (Romeu M Vitorino et al., 2009).

Figure 2-6 presents a flowchart on the genetic manipulation process used in IGA. Usually the crossover operator is predominant (thus with a higher probability of occurrence) and the mutation operator has a low probability. However, the mutation operator is highly significant, because it is the operator which is responsible for introducing new genetic characteristics in the population. This operator randomly changes characteristics of one specific individual, avoiding a premature convergence and guarantying a non-null probability of reaching any point of the search space. Therefore, each time the genetic characteristics tend to become homogeneous, an attempt to increase diversity is made by increasing the mutation probability.

In order to improve the computational efficiency and accuracy of the search tool, a black list of infeasible solutions was used to record all the individuals whose characteristics could imply negative impacts beyond the admissible limits.

The choice of crossover and mutation probabilities (*pc* and *pm*, respectively) affects the behavior and performance of the GA (Romeu M Vitorino et al., 2009). The heuristic updating principles of the pc and pm probabilities, as a function of the genetic diversity (Gdiv) are as follows:

- 1. Use large *pc* and small *pm* when  $G_{div}$  in the current generation is large;
- 2. Use small *pc* and large *pm* when  $G_{div}$  in the current generation is small.

*pc* and *pm* are adjusted according to the following conditions, presented in (8) and (9), and considering bounds  $B_{min}$  and  $B_{max}$ :

$$pc = \begin{cases} pc_{min}, & if \ G_{div} < B_{min} \\ pc_{max}, & if \ G_{div} > B_{max} \end{cases}$$
(8)

$$pm = \begin{cases} pm_{max}, if \ G_{div} < B_{min} \\ pm_{min}, if \ G_{div} > B_{max} \end{cases}$$
(9)

If the genetic diversity ( $G_{div}$ ) is within the considered bounds, pc and pm are calculated through a linear interpolation as shown in equations (10) e (11).

$$pc = \left(\frac{pc_{min} - pc_{max}}{B_{min} - B_{max}}\right)G_{div} + \left(\frac{pc_{max}B_{min} - pc_{min}B_{max}}{B_{min} - B_{max}}\right)$$
(10)  
$$pm = \left(\frac{pm_{max} - pm_{min}}{B_{min} - B_{max}}\right)G_{div} + \left(\frac{pm_{min}B_{min} - pm_{max}B_{max}}{B_{min} - B_{max}}\right)$$
(11)

Promising results were presented in (R.M. Vitorino et al., 2013), (R. M. Vitorino et al., 2009) supporting this approach (when compared to conventional GA or particle swarm optimization (PSO) algorithm) in terms of speed of convergence and stability, for an application on network reconfiguration problems as shown in Figure 2-7.



Figure 2-7 - Convergence performance using IGA and other methodologies (R.M. Vitorino et al., 2013)

Regarding both the good results presented by R.M. Vitorino et al. (2013) and the performance test results obtained by the author Gonçalves et al.(2013) exhibited in Figure 2-8, the decision was to use this approach for the assessment of the best location of distributed electric energy storage units.



Figure 2-8 - Evolution fitness results of IGA as a function of the number of generations (Npop) (Gonçalves et al., 2013)

#### 2.3.2 Genetic diversity in the population

The genetic diversity of a population, i.e., the genetic variability of individuals, is responsible for the dispersion of solutions in the feasible space. To measure the resemblance of individuals, they must be regarded as multidimensional vectors and a distance calculated from one vector with the differences may be used. If the

distance is below a predefined threshold (Dth), one may assume the two individuals are similar; else, the two individuals are dissimilar (R. M. Vitorino et al., 2009).

$$d(i,j) = \sqrt{(g_i(1) - g_j(1))^2 + \dots + (g_i(N) - g_j(N))^2}$$
(12)

Where  $g_i$  is the chromosome gene of individual "i" and  $g_j$  the chromosome gene of individual "j".

To measure the genetic diversity (Gdiv), the following equation is used:

$$G_{div} = \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{Nind} \sum_{j=i+1}^{Nind} 1_{\{d(i,j) > Dth\}}}{N_{ind}}\right) \times 100$$
 (13)

 $G_{div}$  it is a variable in the range [0,100] meaning that when the value is zero all individuals are similar and when it is 100 all individuals in the population are dissimilar.

#### 2.3.3 Selection mechanism

The selection mechanism on iNSGA-II is performed using a "Binary Tournament Selection" based on rank and crowding distance. An individual is selected if its rank is lower than the rank of the other or if its crowding distance is greater than the crowding distance of the other, in case they share the same rank.



Figure 2-9 – NSGA-II procedure

Parents are selected using non-domination, with assigned crowding distance, expressed through the crowded-comparison-operator ( $<_n$ ) that provides a fast and easy way to estimate the spread in obtained solutions (Deb et al., 2002).

The crowded-comparison-operator provides the estimation of the perimeter of the cuboid formed using the nearest neighbors as the vertices. This operator will provide the needed information to choose regions with lesser density. The comparison is carried out in two steps for every individual i in the population:

- 1. Assignment of non-domination rank  $(i_{rank})$ ;
- 2. Assignment of crowding distance  $(i_{distance})$  for individuals on the same front: The crowding distance represents the sum of absolute normalized differences in the function values of two adjacent solutions. For boundary solutions, namely solutions with smallest and largest function values, an infinite distance value is assigned.

Considering the non-domination rank  $(i_{rank})$  and the crowding distance  $(i_{distance})$  the partial order for the crowded-comparison-operator  $(\prec_n)$  is:

$$i \prec_{n} j, If (i_{rank} < j_{rank})$$

$$or \ i_{rank} = j_{rank}$$

$$and \ i_{distance} > j_{distance}$$
(14)

Since all individuals are included in population "Rt" by using the binary tournament selection with crowding-comparison-operator, elitism is ensured.

#### 2.3.4 Multiobjective optimization and decision making support

A multiobjective analysis comprises two phases: the search and the decision making. The first refers to the optimization process, namely the search for a set of suited solutions, considering the problem formulation. Secondly, based on the obtained possible solutions, a tradeoff between objectives must be performed by the DM.

In the first phase, in order to introduce the DM preferences in the optimization process, different approaches can be applied. According to the moment when the DM is consulted, they all could be fitted in three main types; *a priori*, *a posteriori*, or interactively during the search (Iris & Asan, 2012).

The *a priori* methods lead the search to a focalized Pareto Frontier, since the DM preferences are embedded in the GA to bias the search towards the preferred region. Due to the need of assigning the preference trade-offs on the objective values, this approach could be more difficult as the number of objectives increases, or if the DM has no experience in the specific multiobjective problem (Iris & Asan, 2012) (e.g. specific expectations).

Considering the *a posteriori* approach, the DM decides whether to aim for the solution closest to the ideal point (i.e. which optimizes all the objectives simultaneously), or to apply his preferences on the objective functions results in order to identify his preferred solution or set of solutions. The *a posteriori* approach has the advantage of reducing the final number of solutions on the Pareto Frontier (Iris & Asan, 2012). However, it has the difficulty of presenting to the DM a set of possible solutions from which to choose, instead of a single "optimal" one, as well as the associated computational effort in generating a large set of non-dominated solutions (Klamroth & Miettinen, 2008).

The *interactive methods* help to overcome the above-mentioned constraints enabling the DM to learn about the problem, its possibilities and limitations, as well as the interdependencies among the objective functions (Klamroth & Miettinen, 2008). These methods can be applied to decision making or optimization processes in which the preferences are interactively refined at interleaved steps (Kacprzyk; & Pedrycz, 2015). However, it may be worth to first get an overview of what the Pareto set looks like, in order to acknowledge the feasibility of solutions (Klamroth & Miettinen, 2008).

The available methods to introduce the DM preferences in the optimization process are not conflictive and each has advantages and limitations. Moreover, the potential of combining these tools and approaches enable to develop hybrid approaches, with better performances when solving multiobjective optimization problems (Klamroth & Miettinen, 2008), (J. Clímaco & Antunes, 1994).

In the second phase the final selection of non-dominated solutions from the Pareto Set might be a difficult task, mainly due to the fact that the set of available solutions, and the corresponding representative Pareto Frontier in the objective function space, may be crowded (Iris & Asan, 2012).

## 2.4 Externalities: CO2 impact evaluation

Assessing externalities can be a very difficult task. In fact, all the issues regarding environmental impacts are critical due to the difficulty to monetize them, as the environment and its resources are generally considered abundant, renewable, without boundaries and free of charge.

Many authors aimed to minimize environmental impacts by assessing not only their emissions but also the linkages between acquisition and consumption, giving a price to the associated greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and welfare loss (Paltsev et al., 2008), (Milne et al., 2013), (Grant et al., 2006),



(Commission, 2005). A well-known example is the ExternE methodology (Commission, 2005), which comprises a framework to transform different impacts into a common unit, using specific conversion factors (Neves, 2004).

The difficulty to implement and quantify impacts resulted in many methodologies being unused, such as the ExternE methodology, replaced to some extent by the CO2 equivalent valorization within the European emissions trading system (EU ETS). The CO2 equivalent is an internationally recognized term, used by the Kyoto protocol (Ki-moon, 2008) to describe different GHG in a common unit, enabling their comparison in terms of their global warming impact. As a tool to help accomplishing the Kyoto protocol targets, the EU ETS is the first (and still the largest) international system for trading GHG emission allowances, covering 28 EU countries.

The EU ETS sets a cap (or limit) on the total amount of GHG emissions that can be emitted by factories and reduces the cap over time, so that emissions fall. Despite its limitations, this approach is under consideration among several non-European countries (and countries which did not ratify the Kyoto protocol for political or economic reasons) (Paltsev et al., 2008), (Commission, 2015d).

Launched on the 1<sup>st</sup> January 2005, the initial trading period ran for three free trading preparation years in a "learn by doing" process. Since initial emission projections revealed to be wrong, the first phase enabled to assess the correct allocation of allowances among member states and sectors. After this period, and using the assessed data under the EU ETS, the second phase began on the 1<sup>st</sup> January 2008 (until the end of 2012), matching the first commitment period of the Kyoto Protocol.

In order to guarantee the EU as a whole, as well as each individual member state Kyoto commitments, the EU ETS emissions cap had been settled 6.5% below 2005 levels. The second phase showed that harmonization (regarding the cap on overall allowances settlement) within the EU ETS is imperative to guarantee the EU emission reduction objectives at least cost and with minimum competitive distortions (Commission, 2015d).

With a timespan of eight years, the third stage started on January 2013, and introduced a more efficient, harmonized and fair system. The cap was settled in less 21% of emissions compared to 2005 and the amount of auctioning is expected to be more than half. A single EU-wide cap was introduced and allowances are now allocated on the basis of harmonized rules, avoiding the need of national allocation plans (used in phases 1 and 2). The cap was settled considering the average total quantity of allowances to be issued by member states in phase 2, the broadened scope of the system that was introduced in phase 3, and the overall reduction of GHG emissions, compared to 1990. Considering the target EU emissions reduction, the EU defined a wider cap, as follows (Commission, 2015d):

- 21% reduction in EU ETS sector emissions (compared to 2005 by 2020);
- Reduction of approximately 10%, compared to 2005 for the sectors that are not covered by the EU ETS.

Due to its effectiveness on promoting the reduction of GHG emissions, as well as searching a cost reduction of cutting emissions (increasing the market liquidity and making the carbon price more stable), the EU ETS is currently being integrated with another cap-and-trade systems. This will enable participants to comply with their obligations in a more cost effective way, promoting a global cooperation on climate change, and leveling the international playing field (Commission, 2015d).

Even with adjustments in the market rules (as a result of stage 1 and 2 learning process), there is a surplus of allowances since 2009, affecting the orderly functioning of the carbon market (e.g. excessive reduction in the carbon price). As a result, the commission postponed the auctioning of 900 million allowances until 2019-2020. The impact analysis regarding this option showed the ability to rebalance supply and demand in the short term, as well as to reduce price volatility without compromising competitiveness (Commission, 2015b). Moreover, the commission proposed to make a structural change in the ETS in the long term,

establishing a market stability reserve. This reserve would address the present surplus of allowances, improving the system resilience (Commission, 2015b).

In spite of its pros and cons, the EU ETS is part of a continuous progress towards a low-carbon society which objectives are to cut emissions to 80% by 2050 compared to 1990 levels (with intermediate milestones of 40% by 2030 and 60% by 2040) (Commission, 2015b).



Figure 2-10 – Possible 80% cut in GHG emissions in the EU, using year 1990 as reference (Commission, 2015b)

Figure 2-10 shows both the initial (and current) EU policy objectives endorsed in the "2030 climate & energy framework" and the more ambitious presented in "2050 lowcarbon economy". The EU 2050 targets considered the almost total elimination of CO<sub>2</sub> associated to the power sector, by replacing fossil fuels in transport, heating and by promoting electricity production from renewable sources, together with the capture of CO<sub>2</sub> in fossil fuel power plants and a strong investment in smart grids, as detailed in (Commission, 2015a). For transportation and building sectors, the cuts are expected to achieve almost 60% and 90%, respectively, by increasing efficiency in current technology, replacing current vehicles with hybrid or electric technologies, and introducing biofuel in aviation and haulage. In buildings, energy performance is expected to improve with the use of passive architecture, retrofitting of existing buildings and replacement of domestic fossil fuels use by electricity and renewable sources (Commission, 2015b),(Commission, 2015c). Guided by the ETS, the EU cap-and-trade system is an important instrument currently available and feasible for GHG impact assessment, and therefore the DEESS associated externalities will use this system. Using the EU ETS will contribute to the development of a methodology that uses existing and available data within the energy sector.

# 3 Methodology proposal

The proposed methodology is outlined in six steps, as presented in Figure 3-1 (Gonçalves et al., 2015b). The objective is to combine the determination of the best location for the storage units with the definition of the best schedule of operation, giving the DM insights on his choice (and on the associated impacts of possible tradeoffs), as well as testing possible management schemes that may be proposed for a stationary DEESS within a smart grid environment.



Figure 3-1 – Proposed methodology for DEESS assessment using iNSGA-II algorithm – Macro view

Each of the presented steps is further detailed in Figure 3-2. The methodology searches a Pareto front for one of possible scenarios, supported on data regarding the network, the storage technology and the defined service, from which the best possible set of DEESS locations will be chosen, as presented in Figure 3-2.



Figure 3-2 – Proposed methodology for DEESS assessment using iNSGAII algorithm – Detailed view

The *service definition* block is where the desired goal to be assessed is specified through management schemes. The proposed methodology is tested considering three plausible goals for ESS commonly highlighted in the literature and detailed in section 4.4.

The *technology characterization* block defines the technical characteristics of the considered ESS (battery plus power converter), since solutions depend on the considered technology and its working limits. This block provides information about the working periods for the definition of the management scheme (C/D profile) in the *DEESS working profile* block, also providing the capacity limits used in the optimization process, namely in the power flow analysis performed inside the genetic search (i.e the *iNSGAII* block).

The *network characterization* block defines the daily demand diagram of the distribution substation and the active and passive elements of the electricity grid. This step characterizes the entire network, describing buses, cables and interconnections. The information is compiled in data matrixes used to perform a power flow analysis with the help of the Matpower toolbox (Zimmerman et al., 2011)

and Matlab<sup>™</sup>. Although the methodology is here applied to study the best ESS location within a distribution network (considering different management schemes), it may be applied to any type of grid, as long as the correct characterization is provided. The methodology does not consider potential problems arising in the operation of protection devices due to reversal of power flows.

The Working definition block, presented in Figure 3-2, includes the Data clustering and the DEESS working profile intermediate stage. In order to define a C/D profile for the storage elements and to evaluate the economic value of the operation, prototypes of daily LD profiles, as well as of energy market rates profiles and of renewable wind generation profiles, were needed. This work proposes a new method to obtain such profiles, using cluster analysis, namely through an artificial neural networks method, confirmed with a hierarchical clustering approach, included here in the Data clustering block. The DEESS Working profile block represents the second intermediate stage for the management scheme (MSch) definition of the considered ESS. Therefore, it combines the management goals of the DM, registered in the Service definition step, and the technical limits of the considered ESS.

The present work also implements a possible *pricing scheme* to be used for promoting DEESS exploitation, because the existence of a regulatory framework may stimulate the existence of market players intending to invest on energy storage. Since one of the main objectives is to balance the surplus/deficit periods of renewable energy (RE) availability, the energy recovered from energy storage is assumed to be rewarded on an equivalent basis to the energy that is displaced as explained in section 3.2.

The *iNSGAII* block uses the genetic algorithm presented in (Gonçalves et al., 2015a), to search for non-dominated solutions. The tool uses a "Binary Tournament Selection" based on the rank and crowding distance to choose the best individuals for the evolution process. An individual is selected if its rank is smaller than the rank of the other, or, if its crowding distance is greater than the crowding distance of the other in case they share the same rank. (Figure 2-9, section 2.3.3). For the considered case study, the iNSGAII population of possible solutions was assumed to be composed of 150 individuals for a maximum number of 100 generations (both values that were consistently above those needed for convergence to be attained).

The evaluation functions were integrated in the algorithm using powerflow analysis to assess the impact of each individual solution on the network performance.

The *Externalities* block represents the assessment of possible avoided greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions regarding the chosen solution (or set of chosen solutions), as well as a surplus tariff proposition that can improve the associated economic benefit. The new surplus tariff proposal is based on the solution's annualized cost and the annual economic benefit needed to obtain profit. After doing this economic analysis the DM will increase the perception of possible viable choices.

All the possible non-dominated solutions are presented in the Pareto optimal front as result of the optimization process. The final preferred solution must be chosen by the DM considering its own criteria, namely the tradeoffs between objectives. The stakeholders that can benefit from the developed methodology are the DSO, a private investor or any authority acting according to the societal interest.

# 3.1 Data clustering

The need for evaluating the DEESS contribution within a smart grid environment, presents an opportunity for data classification, considering the large data sets for dynamic grid analysis, such as the annual monitoring of distribution LD, energy market prices and wind power generation.

The following sub-sections present a methodology<sup>5</sup> to group information by similarity, enabling the analyses of the associated impacts on the electricity grid of the deployment of a DEESS, by providing reliable daily simulation profile prototypes of market price, LD and wind power generation (Miguel et al., 2016).

## 3.1.1 Clustering techniques

Cluster analysis is a convenient method for identifying homogenous groups of objects called clusters, aiming to group objects by similarity, but keeping a significant difference between them (Mooi & Sarstedt, 2010).

Clustering techniques could be divided in two main methods, namely the Partitional clustering and the Hierarchical clustering, as presented in Figure 3-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This work was jointly developed with another PhD student.



Figure 3-3 – Data clustering techniques

The Partitional clustering creates a partition of the database into a predefined number of clusters. In other words, it attempts to determine *k* partitions that optimize a certain criterion function. The Partitional clustering algorithms are divided in two main types; the K-means and K-medoid algorithms (Pujari et al., 2001).

The Partitional algorithms use an interactive optimization paradigm. It starts with an initial partition and by applying an interactive control strategy, it tries to swap objects to improve the quality of the clustering. The quality of the clusters will strongly depend of the initially selected partition. In the k-means algorithms a cluster is represented by its center of gravity while the K-medoid algorithms use the closest object from the center as the center representation.

The Hierarchical clustering methods create sequenced partitions, each one containing the previous one in a hierarchic way. There are two types of hierarchical methods, the agglomerative clustering algorithms and the divisive clustering algorithms.

The agglomerative clustering method starts with an equal number of clusters and objects (each cluster has only one object) that will be merged in pairs until the number of clusters reduces to *k* partitions. The merging procedure always considers the nearest pair of available clusters and terminates when the hierarchy of clusters is built with just a single cluster containing all objects (Pujari et al., 2001).

The divisive clustering method is an inverse process to the agglomerative clustering method, starting with all the records in one cluster and iterating to split each cluster into smaller groups.

An alternative method introduced by Teuvo Kohonen in the early1980's, the selforganizing maps (SOM), is a type of artificial neural network (ANN) with an unsupervised learning process because the classes for the output vectors are not initially known (Kohonen, 1998). The Kohonen SOM could be compared to conventional clustering methods, considering the internal allocation rules and their performance (Sousa, 2006).

The cluster analysis used in the current methodology makes use of a hierarchical clustering method (HM) and an artificial neural networks method, more precisely the Kohonen SOM, as detailed in the following sub-sections. The final objective of the author is to develop cluster prototypes of daily price profiles, load demand profiles and wind generation profiles

#### 3.1.2 Hierarchical Method (HM)

As previously mentioned, the hierarchical clustering method investigates possible groupings of data, by creating a structure similar to a hierarchical tree (Sousa, 2006). Such tree is comprised with a multiple level clusters hierarchy, where clusters at one level are grouped in clusters of a higher level. The adopted procedure to create the cluster profile prototypes is here only generally described, but a detailed description may be found in (Sousa, 2006).

First the input data are evaluated (in this case, market price diagrams, LD and wind power generation profiles), and the type of clustering results that are valuable to the analysis are identified. For the specific case, the assessment is based on either the magnitude of the difference between cluster members (defined as the difference between extreme values of a daily profile), or on the diagram shape.

The diagram shape comparison is performed by using the Euclidian distance between individual normalized vectors or/and intermediate vectors that represent the data clusters in the tree dendogram. Initially the assessment is performed between individual profiles but as a result of the data clustering, this comparison will be also performed between individual profiles and clusters or between clusters, until the hierarchical tree is composed of one final cluster.

The Euclidian distance between two profiles (x and y) is measured as shown in equation (15) considering 96 values of the profiles.

$$\|x - y\| = \sqrt{(x_1 - y_1)^2 + (x_2 - y_2)^2 + \dots + (x_{96} - y_{96})^2}$$
(15)

The authors performed an analysis to the meaning of the obtained clusters by attempting to match with day types, namely weekdays, Saturdays, Sundays and holidays. After several tests, while for electricity profiles (LD and wind power generation) the most relevant was the shape of the profile, in the case of the price profiles, the magnitude of the difference assumed greater relevance to differentiate daily diagrams.

The sequence of partitions is assessed according to the distance between objects, namely their linkage distance that is characterized as single, complete, average, centroid or ward distance, the latter being used in the present case.

The following table presents the different ways to measure the linkage distance between objects, which is the main difference between existent clustering methods (Sousa, 2006).

Method	Description
Single linkage	Uses the minimum distance between objects under analysis. It tends to produce unbalanced and scattered clusters especially in large sets of data, without taking into account the structure of the formed clusters.
Complete linkage	Uses the maximum distance between objects under analysis. It tends to produce compact clusters with equal diameters not considering the structure of the formed clusters.
Average linkage	Uses the average distance between objects under analysis. It tends to group clusters with small variances. It could be seen as an intermediate method between <i>single</i> method and <i>complete</i> method. It considers the structure of clusters and reveals to be a relatively robust method.
Centroid linkage	Uses the distance between the clusters centroids or means. This method is one more averaging technique, assuming that the points can be represented in a Euclidean space for geometric interpretation.
Ward linkage	The distance between two clusters is the sum of squared deviations from points to centroids. The goal is to minimize the within-cluster sum of squares. Tends to produce clusters with a spherical shape and similar numbers of observations (representations), being also sensitive to outliers. It assumes that the points can be represented in Euclidean space, providing a geometric interpretation.

Table 3-1 – Hierarchical clustering methods (Everitt et al., 2011)

After calculating distances between objects it is possible to group profiles considering their proximity, using the shortest distance. The distance between clusters is determined each time a new cluster is created, comprising new objects or group of objects, until the hierarchical tree is composed of one single cluster. More detailed information regarding this procedure can be found in (Everitt et al., 2011).

#### 3.1.3 Artificial Neural Networks (ANN) Method

The ANN method is based on the Kohonen SOM (Kohonen, 1998). This algorithm is able to capture eventual nonlinear statistical relationships between elements of data into a simple geometric relationship (neural network) on a low dimensional display, based on similarity and topology, a feature that is one of the most important advantages of the method.

Similar to the hierarchical method, this clustering method is also an example of unsupervised learning because the classes of the output vectors are not initially known. The used data in the training stage is crucial since the neural network is iteratively adapted in order to minimize a performance function, the result being an automatic mapping of the relationships between the inputs and outputs (Sousa, 2006).



Figure 3-4 – Kohonen self-organizing map model (Everitt et al., 2011)

The neural networks contain two layers: an input layer of *x*-observations with a p dimension and an output layer representing k nodes for the k clusters, each one associated to a weight w with dimension equal to p. The clustering process occurs when an input vector is assigned to an output node characterized by a weight synaptic vector w with dimension equal to p.(Sousa, 2006). According to Everitt et al. (2011), the random weights initially assigned to nodes change with the learning (training) process, representing the allocation of input data to clusters. The stabilization of the iterative process eventually occurs when weights corresponding to cluster prototypes ensure that similar clusters are represented closely on the map (Sousa, 2006).

The ANN application was performed as shown in Figure 3-5 using the available MATLAB toolboxes.



Figure 3-5 – ANN application for 2008 data clustering of LD, market prices and wind power generation

The *Initial set-up* block includes the annual input data (normalized for the load demand and wind generation) gathered in [96;366] matrixes, which represent the total days of 2008 on 0.25h samples.

The *Clustering* block is where data will be clustered based on similarity and topology, with a preference for assigning the same number of instances to each class. This step considered a total of 1000 training steps input space coverage, an initial neighborhood size of two, and a layer topology function that calculates neuron positions for layers whose neurons are arranged in an N dimensional grid (e.g. gridtop function). The N-dimensional neuron layer definition was guided by the hierarchical method results and using a layer distance function to find the distances between the layer's neurons given their positions. This step uses both the input data and the neuron layer network to cyclically adjust the weights associated with the input values. During the training phase, the network learns by adjusting the weights in order to be able to predict accurately the class label of input samples. Finally the input data are actually allocated/clustered according to the obtained weights in the neuron layer network.

The *post-processing* block just shows results in a graphical way, as examples in Figure 3-6 and Figure 3-7.



Figure 3-6 – ANN example for six clusters output

Figure 3-7 presents an example in which five of the six available clusters get almost all the hits (allocation of input diagrams).



Figure 3-7 – Self-organizing map hits allocation example

#### 3.1.4 Profile prototypes definition

The proposed clustering methodology, presented in Figure 3-8, was fed with one year of data on a quarter hour time step. The LD and wind power generation diagrams were obtained directly from the Portuguese electric energy sector databases. The electricity wholesale market prices for one year were converted from hourly data into quarter hour time step data.

In order to define the appropriate use of gathered data, an experimental setup was performed using two approaches for the data clustering techniques, one using the input data without any treatment and a second one where the input data were subjected to a normalization procedure such that the sum of all the elements of each vector equals 1, in order to cross-check their validity (Sousa, 2006).
The normalization process was performed using equation (16) where  $Vector_i$  is the value of the i<sup>th</sup> element of the vector to be normalized and *m* is the number of elements (m=96).

Normalized vector<sub>i</sub> = 
$$\frac{Vector_i}{\sum_{i=1}^m Vector_i}$$
 (16)

This experiment showed that in the case of the electricity profiles, the use of the shape of the diagram resulted in data being differentiated in workdays and weekends. However, in the case of the market price diagrams, the magnitude similarity between diagrams resulted in more discrimination than when using the shape of the diagram. An important issue was the need to adjust the data to the two clock changes of the daylight savings scheme, namely on the last Sunday of March and October.

The hierarchical method helped to choose the appropriate number of clusters graphically, using the tree dendogram and the inflexion point of the curve that relates the distances between clusters with the number of clusters (cf section 4.1 related to the case study example) (Salvador & Chan, 2004). A comparison was made between the output of both methods regarding the assignment of day types (working day, Saturday, Sunday and holiday) to clusters.



Figure 3-8 - Methodology for profile cluster prototypes of price, electricity consumption and wind power generation (Miguel et al., 2016).

The output of this method provides one profile prototype for each cluster in each clustering technique. The profile prototype of each cluster was obtained with an average of the profiles allocated to it.

These profile prototypes, and their weight in terms of the number of days per year in which they apply, are then important tools for building different scenarios useful for studies that evaluate the deployment of new technologies, such as the use of distributed electric energy storage (Gonçalves et al., 2013) or residential energy management systems (Miguel et al., 2013).

# 3.2 Proposal of a pricing scheme for the energy storage service

Since the research aims to contribute to the integration of electric ESS within a radial distribution system (RDS), a definition of the regulatory framework for the management of the infrastructure is required.

Being the purpose of promoting ESS the benefits these systems could bring to maximize the generation of electricity from renewable sources, it seems plausible to consider electric ESS on an equivalent basis to a renewable generator, or what in Portugal is defined as a Special Regime Producer (SRP). In fact, a better match between supply availability and demand needs is expected to help maximizing the interest on investing in renewable generation. However, this feature is not yet accounted for in the current legislation.

Table 2 – SRP characterization according to the production process(ERSE, 2009)

# Electricity generation based on : a) Water resources for power up to 10 MVA and in some cases up to 30 MW; b) Using other sources of renewable energy; c) Based on waste (municipal, industrial and agricultural); d) At low voltage, with installed capacity limited to 150 kW; e) For micro, with installed power up to 5.75 kW; f) Through a process of cogeneration.

The Portuguese last resort retailer is obliged to purchase all energy produced by the SRP, with administratively defined prices (net-billing tariff), or resulting from a bidding process upper bounded by values previously set by the government based

on the avoided costs of investment in new facilities, as well as the avoided costs of energy (fuel costs) and environmental impacts (avoided GHG emissions cost). The final reward to the producer depends on delivery periods, generation diagram shape and primary energy source (MIBEL' council of regulators, 2011).

The last resort retailer, when making purchase offers on the Iberian electricity market (MIBEL), takes into account the energy acquired in the special regime. Hence, the special regime production does not appear explicitly in the energy market, but it has influence on the price since it influences the volume of the purchase offers.

Figure 3-9 presents the evolution of the average prices from 2000 to 2012, including the regulated market and the SRP market (ERSE, 2013).



Figure 3-9 – Average annual cost between PRE and regulated market (ERSE, 2013)

The proposed pricing scheme should consider the electric ESS as a SRP that buys energy at the daily market price and sells it at SRP prices, in high demand periods. As DEESS may play an important role to support the increased share of RE, avoiding the use of backup thermal generation, it is admissible to consider that the DEESS service is priced accordingly, as if they were SRP. In this study, an average SRP surplus tariff of 24.18€/MWh (referring to 2008) was used. It was the current value in 2008, for which consumption data were available.

# 3.3 Optimization method

The following sections detail the approach briefly described in section 2.3, namely the population definition, the crossover method, the coding and decoding technique, termination operator and the adopted objective functions to measure the DEESS network impacts of each solution.

#### 3.3.1 Initial population generation

The initial population is randomly generated considering a predefined number of individuals (Nind) with a vector of length equal to the total available nodes predefined by the user. Moreover, during the random generation, it is assured that the individuals of a certain population are all different in order to guarantee a high genetic diversity and to avoid repeated computation. Therefore, it should be guaranteed that the total number of individuals for each population are less than the possible combination of available nodes (expression (17)).

Nind 
$$\leq 2^{nnos}$$

With

(17)

nnos – The total number of available nodes for ESS installation.

*Nind* – The total number of individual in each generation;

#### 3.3.2 Multi-point crossover

Since the coding technique is based on a binary assignment of the entire buses of the network, the chromosome tends to become very long. For that reason, and ambitioning the best performance of the algorithm, the author uses a multi-point crossover.

On the chosen multi-point crossover, the cutting point divide the chromossome in 2 bit parts, leaving a last part of 3 bit for odd chromosome lengths.



Figure 3-10 - Example of the Multi-point crossover technique.

The proposed method allows a fast crossover over the wide length chromosomes, as well as maintaining the descendants inherit characteristics from both parents according to a defined probability (pc).

#### 3.3.3 Coding and Decoding Technique

The definition of the available nodes for the installation of storage units is made by the DM, based on technical criteria (e.g. which buses have critical load factors). The DM can easily define the availability of a specific node for ESS installation using a binary number (1 or 0). This technique will create a matrix of chromosomes with total length equal to the predefined number of individuals (Nind), as presented in Table 3-3. Each chromosome has a number of bits equal to the number of available nodes (nnos) for ESS installation.

Table 3-3 – Coding technique for available buses identification

Node number	1	2	3	4	 n-1	Ν
Availability Status	0	1	1	0	 1	0

The correspondence between the nodes in the network and the chromosome element is achieved through the use of a reference vector with the same size of a chromosome, as depicted in Table 3-4.

The use of a reference vector (as presented in Table 3-4) will enable the use of shorter length chromosomes because it will assure the generation of valid individuals. After the creation of each population, the network model must be updated with the availability of storage.

Table 3-4 – Available chromosomes' matrix

	Node	e number fo	or gene po	sition
Reference Vector	2	3		Z

#### 3.3.4 Termination

Genetic algorithms are stochastic search tools and for that reason it is difficult to specify convergence criteria. However, improved NSGA-II uses as a first termination criterion the maximum number of generations (Npop), and secondly a specified convergence threshold (Cth). The motivation for using the diversity of population lies in the fact that the individuals of generation " $R_{t+1}$ " may have similar performance to generation " $R_t$ " implying a progressive reduction of genetic diversity. If the diversity of population does not suffer any changes, we may assume that GA converged. Figure 3-11 shows the convergence after 105<sup>th</sup> generation by using the genetic diversity operator (Gdiv) along 15 generation threshold (Cth).



Figure 3-11 – Evolution of improved NSGA-II using a termination criteria

#### 3.3.5 Objective functions

Considering a 24h time horizon, the assessment of the best locations for DEESS consists in the identification of the best buses where installed storage units will minimize network energy losses (NEL), network voltage quadratic mean deviation (NVqmd) and the network storage annualized cost (NSAC), while maximizing the benefit associated with the daily purchase and sale of energy in different time periods, hereinafter designated as network energy rate benefit (NERB).

#### 3.3.5.1 Network Energy Losses (NEL)

The NEL objective function to be minimized, described in equation (18), is the sum of the network power losses (PL) in all the *n* branches of the medium voltage (MV) distribution network during the whole day. The elementary time interval is a quarter-hour ( $t_j$ =0.25h) so the data set has 96 values (m=96).

$$NEL = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{PL_{ij}}{t_j}$$
(18)

#### 3.3.5.2 Network Voltage Quadratic Mean Deviation (NVqmd)

The NVqmd objective function to be minimized, described in equation (19), is the maximum daily network voltage quadratic mean deviation (NVqmd) for all individual voltage deviations (VD) in the *N* network buses, relative to the voltage reference value ( $V_{ref}$ ).

$$NVqmd = Max_{i=1..m \ time \ steps;} \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{N} VD_k^2}{N}}$$
(19)

#### 3.3.5.3 Network Storage Annualized Cost (NSAC)

The third objective function, to be minimized, is the network storage annualized cost (NSAC) for installing *x* units of DEES with an individual capital cost ( $C_{ac}$ ), as presented in equation (20).

$$NSAC = x \times C_{ac} \tag{20}$$

The  $C_{ac}$  is calculated considering the capital costs ( $c_c$ ) and the capital recovery factor (*CRF*) as presented in equation (21). Where *d* is the dimensionless discount rate and *y* the expected life of the equipment, measured in years;

$$C_{ac} = c_c CRF = c_c \frac{d(1+d)^{\gamma}}{(1+d)^{\gamma} - 1}$$
(21)

#### 3.3.5.4 Network Energy rate benefit (NERB)

The fourth objective function, to be maximized, is the network energy rate benefit (NERB) considering the energy tariff (C) and the required energy (E) for charge(ch) and discharge(dch) periods during the 96 elementary time intervals, as presented in equation (22).

$$NERB = \sum_{j=1}^{m} (E_{dch} \times C_{dch} - E_{ch} \times C_{ch})_j$$
(22)

#### THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

# 4 Case study

In order to test it, the methodology was applied to a case study. Due to the lack of detailed data with enough quality, the network characterization of the physical infrastructure was based on a standard IEEE network. All data used in the optimization process was based on the Portuguese energy market, and treated using clustering methods according to the previously developed clustering methodology.

# 4.1 Data clustering process

The first step to define the appropriate number of clusters was the analysis of the dendogram or tree of clusters that resulted from the clustering process. (cf. in section 3.1). Figure 4-1 and Figure 4-2 illustrate an example of a tree dendogram and the representation of the relationship between the obtained number of clusters and the distances between the centers of clusters. Using both figures the selection of the number of clusters can be more accurately justified as the single use of any of them results in a degree of uncertainty, the threshold in the case of the dendogram, as depicted in Figure 4-1, and the location of the inflexion point of the curve, as observed in Figure 4-2. This technique was applied to select a set of plausible scenarios, and a total of 5 clusters were selected in all cases.



Figure 4-1 – Tree dendogram representing the clustering of LD daily profiles for 2008



Figure 4-2 – The relation of the distance between clusters with the number of clusters for the LD in 2008.

#### 4.1.1 Clustering of wholesale market price profiles

In order to compare the data allocation, verify the similarity of results with both methods, and understand the meaning of the clusters, the obtained outputs were analyzed in terms of the total number of allocated days (hits), on weekdays, weekends and holidays. As an example, Table 4-1 and Table 4-2 provide the comparison of electricity price profiles. The resulting clusters for the electricity prices did not show a particular correspondence to the type of day, no cluster being formed more with a type than with other. Although the current market situation creates conditions for this to happen, it suggests also that the natural consumption variation between workdays and weekends is not influencing prices.

5 CLUSTER'S ANALYSIS – HIERACHICAL METHOD					
Cluster N.º	Total hits	Week days	Saturdays	Sundays	Holidays
1	42	35	3	2	2
2	71	27	20	22	2
3	93	81	9	3	0
4	44	44	0	0	0
5	116	64	20	25	7
Total	366	251	52	52	11

Table 4-1 – Data allocation for 2008 elect	ricity prices performed	d with the hierarchical method
--	-------------------------	--------------------------------

5 CLUSTER'S ANALYSIS – ARTIFICIAL NEURAL NETWORKS						
Cluster N.º	Total hits	Week days	Saturdays	Sundays	Holidays	
1	36	36	0	0	0	
2	101	84	9	8	0	
3	108	63	24	17	4	
4	69	49	9	8	3	
5	52	19	10	19	4	
Total	366	251	52	52	11	

Table 4-2 – Data allocation for 2008 electricity prices performed with the artificial neural networks method

The resulting clustering price prototypes can be visualized in Figure 4-3. Both methods present similar types of price prototypes and the approximate same number of hits. This resemblance ensures that any of the clustering methods may be used for generating reliable simulation prototypes.



Figure 4-3 – Price prototype clusters for the HM and the ANN method, for 2008.

The prototypes show that ANN cluster#1 and HM cluster #4 are similar, the first one based on the ANN method and the second on the HM method. These two clusters present the largest variation between maximum and minimum daily market prices. The minimum and maximum obtained values for ANN method cluster #1 were 55.47 €/MWh and 89.86 €/MWh, and for HM cluster #4 were 55.66 €/MWh and 91.32 €/MWh.

Figure 4-4 presents the prototypes price range. Considering the average price, the maximum variation above the average profile was  $15.37 \in$  and below that profile was  $15.18 \in$ . The results show a small variation range in the prototypes values.



Figure 4-4 – Prototypes price range variation, for 2008.

If the stimulus to use storage consists in economic incentives based on market price diagrams, the viability of investments in storage might be dependent of technology development to increase total system efficiency. Since technology improvements are costly, the stimulus to investors may require a feed-in tariff scheme, such as the one proposed in section 3.2.

#### 4.1.2 Clustering of LD profiles

Both methods presented rather segmented clusters in the electricity demand profiles (based on weekdays and weekends). The differences between methods were essentially related to the total number of allocated days. For different distributions, another measurement method may be used (e.g. complete linkage). The holidays were not represented in any particular cluster, most likely because these days normally present patterns similar to weekends. The results for both methods, regarding the 2008 high voltage (HV) LD are presented in Table 4-3 and Table 4-4.

5 CLUSTER'S ANALYSIS – HIERACHICAL METHOD					
Cluster N.º	Total hits	Week days	Saturdays	Sundays	Holidays
1	24	1	2	17	4
2	53	0	18	33	2
3	37	0	32	0	5
4	55	55	0	0	0
5	197	195	0	2	0
Total	366	251	52	52	11

Table 4-3 – Data allocation for 2008 HV LD performed with the hierarchical method.

5 CLUSTER'S ANALYSIS – ARTIFICIAL NEURAL NETWORKS					
Cluster N.º	Total hits	Week days	Saturdays	Sundays	Holidays
1	52	1	43	3	5
2	61	0	8	47	6
3	92	92	0	0	0
4	108	105	1	2	0
5	53	53	0	0	0
Total	366	251	52	52	11

Table 4-4 – Data allocation for 2008 HV LD performed with the artificial neural networks method.

In order to develop a prototype, the clustered data were used to obtain an average profile of each cluster. The developed prototypes for each method are presented in Figure 4-5 and Figure 4-6. The prototypes are similar for both methods, which is likely explained by the well-defined pattern of energy consumption, even considering the mix of industrial and residential consumers.



Figure 4-6 – ANN method 2008 cluster prototypes for HV LD.

In order to determine the profile variation range, the average profile for all data was compared to all five obtained prototypes. This process allowed to obtain the average variation range of the profiles, as presented in Figure 4-7 and Figure 4-8. Taking into consideration the differences between extreme values, and based on one year of data, Figure 4-7 suggests that the average profile may be used as a benchmark reference for demand response studies.



Figure 4-8 – Extreme variation of HV LD cluster profiles around the average, for 2008.

Time [h]

10:00 11:00 2:00 16:00

17:00 18:00 9:00

4:00 15:00

#### Clustering of wind generation profiles 4.1.3

01:00 02:00 03:00 04:00 05:00 00:90 07:00 08:00 00:60

10,0%

-20,0%

-30,0%

As one of the major motivations for storage is to increase the potential of renewable energy by decoupling the periods of usage from the periods of generation, the clustering of historical data from renewable energy generation allows the analysis of different daily patterns and provides insight on their relevance. The obtained prototypes were dissimilar as expected, due to the unpredictability of this energy source, as shown in Figure 4-9. The difference between maximum and minimum values in Figure 4-9 shows that a single average profile is of limited use. ANN cluster #1 (17.21%) and ANN cluster #5 (13.11%), representing 30.33% of the wind pattern profiles in one year time, show clearly the relevance of the integration of energy storage systems. On ANN cluster #1, the energy generated from 00:00 to 08:00 can eventually be stored to be used in periods of higher consumption, while in cluster #5, the interest in storage is not so obvious, as the maximum generation occur in periods when consumption is traditionally high.



Figure 4-9 – Renewable HM and ANN prototypes for the year of 2008.

Figure 4-9 shows the significant variation in wind generation prototypes which can leverage the use of ESS. Potential scenarios can be drawn when combining prototypes as shown in Figure 4-10, however their representativeness will not guarantee the plausibility of scenarios in real conditions.



Figure 4-10 – Clusters #1 for HV LD and renewable energy generation.

In fact, cluster #1 of the renewable generation and cluster #1 of LD (which represent 17.21% and 14.21% of the number of occurrences in one year, respectively) show

situations of particular interest of energy storage to maximize the benefits of renewable energy due to the visible decoupling between generation and consumption.

Table 4-5 presents the annual representativeness of the obtained prototypes using the ANN method.

Prototype n.º	Daily price profile [%]	Prototype n.º	HV LD profile [%]	Prototype n.º	RE generation profile [%]
1	9.84%	1	14.21%	1	17.21%
2	27.60%	2	16.67%	2	22.13%
3	29.51%	3	25.14%	3	26.50%
4	18.85%	4	29.51%	4	21.04%
5	14.21%	5	14.48%	5	13.11%
Total	100.00%	Total	100.00%	Total	100.00%

Table 4-5 – Prototypes annual representativeness

### 4.2 Technology characterization

The data used to perform the simulation of storage systems was obtained from a manufacturer regarding a nanophosphate lithium ion battery with the respective power converter (Systems, 2013), (Vartanian, 2010), (Systems, 2012).

According to these data, a total energy of 61.13Wh/cell was assumed, corresponding to 95% of depth-of-discharge. This option was based on the manufacturer information indicating more than 7000 cycles even with 100% depth-of-discharge (Systems, 2013).

Given the individual cell dimensions of 7.25x160x227mm (Systems, 2012), the proposed solution required roughly 0.1m<sup>3</sup> for the battery systems (a battery pack of two Rows of 180 cells, with a total capacity of 22 008 Wh) without power converter, a volume which could be easily integrated in any power transformer facility.

According to several manufacturers, a plausible 90% efficiency can be expected for the power converter (NEC, 2013) when performing a complete charge/discharge cycle, assuming a nominal discharging capacity of 20.85 kW and requiring a charging power of 23.17kW per power transformer.

The author considered three different ways to obtain the unitary DEESS system cost, considering different sources of data.

The first source of data (J. Vasconcelos et al., 2012), presented in Table 2-8 of section 2.1.4, supply unitary costs of  $300 \in /kW$  for the PC and  $450 \in /kWh$  for the storage system, resulting in a total estimated capital cost of 17 374.50 $\in$  for the specified capacity.

The second source of data, a website from a manufacturer (BuyA123baterries, 2014), supplied a unitary cell price of  $51.70 \in$ , the total storage system capital cost amounting to 6 949.80 $\in$  for the estimated 360 cells. The PC price used the same data as in the previous paragraph. The total estimated capital cost amounts to 25 561.80 $\in$ .

John, J. St. (John, 2014), representing a third source of data, presents a maximum of 1 200USD/kW for an hour of storage for AC systems, giving an estimate of 44.31€ for each unitary cell, amounting to a total capital cost of 22 902.77€

Using equation (4) and (5) presented in section 2.1.4, the author obtained the annualized capital costs presented in Table 4-6.

Option n.º	Calculated annualized capital cost [€]	Unitary capacity cost [€/kW]
1	2 029.85 €	87.62€
2	2 986.37 €	128.91 €
3	2 675.72 €	115.50 €

Table 4-6 – Summary costs table for the considered unitary storage solution

The author considered, conservatively the highest obtained value of 2 986.37  $\in$ , corresponding to option 2.

## 4.3 Network characterization

As an example of a distribution network, the case study network was based on the IEEE 69 bus, 12.66kV RDS (Sahoo & Prasad, 2006), a frequently used test network (R.M. Vitorino et al., 2013), (Romeu M Vitorino et al., 2009), (Mora, 2012). The network includes an 8 MVA substation and 69 nodes, 48 being load-points (distribution transformers) with a total power of 4.66MVA (peak period) of which 3.8 MW is active power and 2.69 MVAr is reactive power. The network in its radial configuration had all the boundary tie-switches in the open position.



Figure 4-11 - 12.66kV radial distribution systems (Mora, 2012)

As shown in Figure 4-11, the RDS included 48 distribution transformers which the DM may consider as possible locations for the ESS units, depending, among other factors, on the availability of physical space.

To test the methodology, data from different sources regarding the Portuguese market were used. The information regarding market prices was extracted from "The Iberian Energy Derivatives Market Exchange or MIBEL" website. EDP Distribuição (the Portuguese DSO) provided the distribution LD data, derived from an annual measurement at the Pinheiros substation located in the city of Leiria in Portugal. The wind power generation data was extracted from the information center website of the Portuguese Transmission System Operator (TSO).

# 4.4 ESS working profiles

The energy storage charging and discharging daily behavior can be very diverse depending on the DM preferences. Based on the literature review, plausible DM goals were considered, according to three possible management schemes:

- Management scheme A To maximize profit from daily energy spot market rates;
- Management scheme B To minimize daily energy distribution network losses;
- Management scheme C To maximize the societal value of wind generation.

Considering the three previous stimuli, the author proceeded to the definition of a C/D binary vector. The five prototypes obtained at the clustering stage for energy market rates, distribution network LD and wind generation were used for the charging/discharging profile definition.

In order to increase the C/D daily periods the author considered, as a general approach, for management schemes A and B, the use of the average value of each daily data set as a reference. The storage units should charge and discharge when the daily profile presents the extreme values below and above the reference value, respectively. The designation of "-1", "1" and "0" was adopted, to define if the storage system is charging, discharging or on standby mode, respectively.

Figure 4-12 shows the market prices variation considering the developed prototype 5.



Figure 4-12 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#5

The minimization of losses was performed using the load flow calculations for the network load profiles. For the case of defining the C/D profile when attempting to minimize losses, the LD can be used as a proxy due to the fact than network losses are usually strongly dependent of demand.



Figure 4-13 – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#1

The renewable generation integration, in particular wind generation, required a different type of analysis. The main motivation for using energy storage for renewable generation resides in storing energy during high power generation periods and delivering it during low power generation periods, in order to stabilize the net distributed power injection profile. Since both generation and load diagrams were subject to a normalization procedure during the clustering process, a measure of the renewable generation availability was obtained from the difference between the average LD profile and renewable generation prototypes as represented in Figure 4-14.



Figure 4-14 –Example of renewable power generation availability assessment when combining average annual LD and renewable cluster#4

Based on the variation, the following procedure to obtain the C/D binary vector is similar to previous scenarios as presented in Figure 4-15.



Figure 4-15 – Renewable integration considering variation between average LD combined with wind generation cluster#4

This procedure was repeated for every possible combination among prototypes. The developed combinations were as follows:

- 1. Combination of the five energy market rates prototypes with the five possible distribution LD prototypes, using the respective C/D developed binary vectors considering management scheme A. This step resulted in 25 scenarios.
- Combination of the five energy market rates prototypes with the five possible distribution LD prototypes, using the respective C/D developed binary vectors considering management scheme B. This step resulted in 25 scenarios.
- Combination of the five energy market rates prototypes with the five C/D developed binary vectors considering management scheme C. This step resulted in 25 scenarios.

It is important to note that for the third case the C/D developed binary vectors resulted from combining the five wind generation prototypes with the annual average energy LD.

Considering the time definition for charging and discharging the storage units, the information was converted into a C/D matrix to be used in the iNSGA-II during the optimization process.

# 4.5 Model constraints

The operation of ESS is constrained by the individual capacities of each storage unit which was specified considering the required voltage for the power inverter, a power limit which considers the minimum values of the bus capacities in the case study, and the physical limit of each individual storage solution for a maximum volume of 1m<sup>3</sup>.

# 4.6 Results and discussion

Due to the important influence of the data used in the study, the clustering process is detailed in section 3.1, showing to be an adequate method to obtain representative data of real and specific location behaviors. Nevertheless, in order to help assessing the results associated to each management scheme, a data analysis of the used data should be performed.

The combination of prototypes, e.g. those regarding LD and energy market rates, does not have a specific annual representativeness, although each considered prototype represents real behaviors. Therefore, the performed combinations should be considered as possible scenarios whose relevancies will be different and can be assessed. For the sake of demonstrating the application of the proposed methodology, and for the sake of simplicity, the weights assigned to the scenarios were considered equal.

Searching a similarity among obtained prototypes revealed that the market prices prototypes #4 and #3 were similar to the LD prototype #4, as shown in Figure 4-16 and Figure 4-17, respectively. Nevertheless, a small dissimilarity was observed during the afternoon and end of the day, when load and prices vary with opposite trends.



Figure 4-17 – Profile analysis of LD prototype #4 and market price prototype #3

Moreover, the average annual LD profile and market price prototypes also showed some dissimilarity, as shown in Figure 4-18, mainly due to the non-representativeness of the LD of the particular substation used regarding the global LD which influences the national energy market prices.

Since most players of the energy sector react to price stimuli, this dissimilarity may lead to non-optimal grid management on a local level. This phenomenon indicates that it may be more adequate to use a local price scheme, adapted to the cost of supply near consumption in order to avoid the use of DEESS with negative consequences to the electricity grid.

73



Figure 4-18 – Annual average profiles comparison of LD with energy market rate prices for 2008 Considering the multiobjective nature of the problem, the choice of a specific solution needs to be performed, e.g. using one of two methods: (i) aggregation of objectives using a weighted sum of the individual objective function values or (ii) an interactive analysis of the Pareto front.

When using the aggregation of objectives, the DM has to establish tradeoffs or preferences by setting weights for the different objective function. An interactive search is the most suited way to perform a multiobjective analysis(J. N. Clímaco et al., 2003) as it enables the DM to assess the impact of each pair of objective function results without hiding information. It was the option selected for this study because it provides the DM with all possible options and does not require the DM to freezes his/her preferences as a set of numbers or as a set of mathematical expressions defining utility functions. This method is further detailed in the following subsection.

#### 4.6.1 DM interactive search

As a first step, an analysis of the Pareto fronts is performed, providing the DM with 2D representations, combining different pairs of objective functions. This procedure helps the DM in his assessment of associated impacts, especially when more than three objective functions are present (where the amount of data can hinder the analysis).

Figure 4-19 shows an example of possible boundaries established by the DM. When the DM establishes boundaries for some objective functions, the remaining available results are affected. By applying this type of search, the DM can check the influence of possible choices and therefore establish different tradeoffs.



Figure 4-19 – Interactive example for scenario 28 result analysis

Although different DMs were considered, i.e., possible stakeholders/agents in the energy market each with its own multiple specific preferences, the most plausible situation is that only one of such agents will decide to invest in a storage system in a particular network. As such, this analysis is intended to solve the problem considering only one perspective at a time, defining choices regarding the definition of the C/D schedule, as well as the interactive analysis of the resulting Pareto front. To provide the DM with reference points in the Pareto front, two possible methods are described in the next subsection.

#### 4.6.2 Reference points

Different weights might be defined for each objective function depending on the DM preferences. However, it should be noted that defining the weight for each objective function, *a priori* or *a posteriori*, may hide the global view of admissible solutions requiring a blind establishment of tradeoffs. In order to provide reference points to the DM, and help the search for the final solution two possible methods are considered:

i) providing the solutions according to the highest and smallest "crowding" value for the rank 1 set of non-dominated solutions; or ii) providing the solution which has the minimum Euclidian distance to the optimal Pareto front available point.

#### 4.6.2.1 Crowding distance method

The crowding distance, presented in (Deb et al., 2002), represents the absolute normalized difference in the function values of two adjacent solutions. For boundary solutions, namely solutions with smallest and largest function values, an infinite distance value is assigned, while for crowded results this operator converges to zero.

An application of the crowding distance is exemplified in Figure 4-20, where extreme solutions and the highest density region are highlighted on the Pareto front. Solutions are distinguished by assigning infinity and zero values to the crowding distance of solutions at the boundaries of Pareto front and of solutions in the center of high density regions, respectively.



Figure 4-20 - Crowding distance highlights for Pareto-front of scenario 46

Figure 4-20 shows the boundary solutions number 3, 49, 55 and 61 and the highest density solutions (more crowded) number 23, 29 and 42 which presented the value infinite and nearly zero, respectively. The crowding-distance operator should only be used as a tool to help the DM search, as it indicates the location of important points such as the boundary, inflexion and higher density location results. This method allows the DM to consider the four objective function results, even when one of them becomes irrelevant or with an insignificant variation.

Non-dominated solution	Evalu	ation parameters	Non-dominated solution	Eval	uation parameters
N.º	rank	crowding	N.º	rank	crowding
1	1	Inf	21	1	0.213947854
2	1	0.102836743	22	1	0.102836743
3	1	0.182782543	23	1	0.158392299
4	1	0.127226987	24	1	0.158392299
5	1	0.102836743	25	1	0.26949436
6	1	0.127226987	26	1	0.102836743
7	1	0.158392299	27	1	0.102827693
8	1	0.102836743	28	1	0.102827693
9	1	0.158392299	29	1	Inf
10	1	0.158383249	30	1	0.102827693
11	1	0.102827693	31	1	0.26950341
12	1	0.102836743	32	1	0.213947854
13	1	0.102827693	33	1	0.380614521
14	1	0.127226987	34	1	0.213947854
15	1	0.102836743	35	1	0.182782543
16	1	0.182782543	36	1	0.127226987
17	1	0.26949436	37	1	0.158392299
18	1	0.238338098	38	1	Inf
19	1	0.102827693			
20	1	0.102836743			

Table 4-7 – Crowding evaluation parameters of scenario 28

Table 4-7 presents the Rank 1 results for scenario 28, considering a more linear example. As can be observed, there are three solutions with a crowding parameter equal to infinite where the DM should focus his analysis. Among the three or more possible solutions, two of them are the extremes of the Pareto front. Figure 4-21 presents the extreme solutions 29 and 38, and solution 1 as the inflexion point in the Pareto front.



Figure 4-21 – Crowding distance method application in scenario 28 to help choosing the best balanced non-dominated solution

#### 4.6.2.2 Euclidian Distance method

Searching for the minimum Euclidian distance to the optimal Pareto front available point might be easier to understand. However, its calculation may need the definition of different weights for each objective function, something that can only be defined by the specific DM.

For the current case study only three objective functions were considered, namely the NEL, the NSAC and the NERB, as the NVqmd has a low variation among the majority of scenarios. For the sake of simplicity equal weights were assigned for the different objectives.

Applying the Euclidian distance method to find a reference point, as presented in equation (23), requires a normalization of all the tree objective functions.

$$\|Dist\|_{2} = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{3} w_{i} [\Delta Obj_{i} - Max. (\Delta Obj_{i})]^{2}}$$
(23)

The Euclidian distance to the optimal point of the Pareto front defined by the NEL, NSAC and NERB objective functions ( $||Dist||_2$ ) used the variation range of each objective function  $\Delta Obj_i$ , such as the NEL and the NSAC, which is calculated using equation (24), and a weight factor ( $w_i$ ) to consider the annual representativeness of each scenario.

$$\Delta Obj_i = \frac{Obj_i}{Obj_{i,MAX} - Obj_{i,min}}, i = 1,2,3;$$
(24)

The variation range is calculated considering each objective function value divided by the same objective function range of the Pareto front results, namely the maximum minus the minimum obtained value.

Table 4-8 presents the results of the described normalization process for the same scenario 28 example: the C/D profile obtained from combining the LD prototype#3 and the energy rate prototype#1 for the MSch B goal, is applied.

Non-dominated	Euclidian	Non-dominated	Euclidian
N.º	(NERB,NSAC,NERB)	N.º	(NERB,NSAC,NERB)
1	0.7120	21	1.0194
2	0.7340	22	0.9257
3	0.7086	23	0.7742
4	0.7775	24	0.8111
5	0.7175	25	1.1446
6	0.7709	26	0.8550
7	0.7648	27	0.7468
8	0.7951	28	0.7083
9	0.7406	29	1.4142
10	0.7988	30	0.9019
11	0.7571	31	1.0652
12	0.7447	32	0.9136
13	0.7249	33	1.2480
14	0.7272	34	1.1956
15	0.8139	35	0.9504
16	0.8976	36	0.9796
17	0.9760	37	0.8772
18	0.8414	38	1.0062
19	0.8340		
20	0.7299		

Table 4-8- Euclidian normalized distance for the scenario 28 non-dominated solutions

Solution number 28 had presented the smallest distance to the "ideal optimal point" (meeting the considered weights), providing a "balanced" solution in the Pareto front but which acceptance by the DM will depend of the implied tradeoffs, as shown in Figure 4-22.

Comparing the solutions obtained with the Euclidian distance and crowding distance method, both methods pointed to nearby areas. Both methods give an important

reference to the DM, the crowding distance not requiring additional data manipulation or weight definition.



Figure 4-22 –Euclidian distance method application in scenario 28 to help choosing the best balanced non-dominated solution

#### 4.6.3 Results analysis

In order to have comparison values for each scenario, a first analysis was performed considering the system without energy storage and obtaining the reference values of losses (NEL) and voltage quadratic mean deviations (NVqmv), as presented in Table 4-9.

Scenarios	NVqmd [pu]	NEL [kWh]
1,2,3,4,5	0.1012	7 670.98
6,7,8,9,10	0.1012	7 705.60
11,12,13,14,15	0.1012	8 334.89
16,17,18,19,20	0.1012	7 725.51
21,22,23,24,25	0.1012	7 232.95
26,31,36,41,46	0.1012	7 670.98
27,32,37,42,47	0.1012	7 705.60
28,33,38,43,48	0.1012	8 334.89
29,34,39,44,49	0.1012	7 725.51
30,35,40,45,50	0.1012	7 232.95
51,52,53,54,55	0.1012	8 431.06
56,57,57,58,59,60	0.1012	8 431.06
61,62,63,64,65	0.1012	8 431.06
66,67,68,69,70	0.1012	8 431.06
71,72,73,74,75	0.1012	8 431.06

Table 4-9 - NEL and NVqmd values for the RDS without storage

The final results were obtained applying a genetic algorithm with a population of possible solutions composed by 150 individuals, and a maximum number of 100 generations, assuring convergence. Results regarding the MSch A, MSch B and MSch C impacts are summarized in Appendix chapter (Table 7-1, Table 7-2, Table 7-3, respectively). In order to simplify the numerical analysis, only the maximum and minimum values for each scenario are presented in the summarized tables. Table 4-10 presents the global analysis.

Results show that the MSch B returns higher NERB results when compared to MSch A. Although not strong, the bias between the substation LD (and consequently with network power losses) and energy market prices will contribute to reduce the reluctance of DSO in integrating resources out of his control (Sovacool & Hirsh, 2009), even if the stakeholder objective is only economic.

The maximum obtained NERB daily results were  $60 \in$ ,  $76 \in$  and  $54 \in$ , the best results associated to MSch A and MSch B showing the importance of energy prices being closely aligned with actual delivery costs, mostly dependent on local load magnitude. The use of an economic objective may present technical problems in managing the network if the local consumption is not correlated with energy market prices.

MSch B presented the highest NEL reductions of 52.95kWh/day whereas MSch A and MSch C obtained the maximum of 43.95kWh/day and 14.06kWh/day, respectively.

MSch C had the smallest economic income and NEL reduction. These results can be explained considering the obtained prototypes during the clustering stage, in which the obtained wind generation prototypes showed no correlation with market energy prices and the substation LD. Therefore, the suited C/D periods may introduce some pressure into the network in periods of high demand.

		NEL [kWh/day]		NVqmd [p.u.]		NSAC [€]		NERB [€]		NSACvsNERB [%]	
	_	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.
MSch A	Original Values	7 232.95	7 670.98	0.101	0.101						
	Improvements	-43.95	0.02	-0.001	0.018	5 973	140 359	1.00	60.00	0.021%	0.047%
	Simulation n.º	24	1	10	25	24	22	24	15	19	5
	Variation [%]	-0.61%	0.00%	-1.22%	17.55%						
	N.º Units [un.]					2	47				
MSch B	Original Values	7 232.95	7 670.98	0.101	0.101						
	Improvements	-52.95	-5.98	-0.002	0.000	5 973	140 359	1.00	76.00	0.017%	0.055%
	Simulation n.º	45	26	26	28	40	36	40	36	50	46
	Variation [%]	-0.73%	-0.08%	-2.21%	-0.23%						
	N.º Units [un.]					2	47				
MSch C	Original Values	8 431.06	8 431.06	0.101	0.101						
	Improvements	-14.06	-2.06	0.000	0.002	8 959	140 359	2.00	54.00	0.012%	0.041%
	Simulation n.º	61	71	51	69	62	70	60	66	75	66
	Variation [%]	-0.17%	-0.02%	-0.23%	1.74%						
-	N.º Units [un.]					3	47				

Table 4-10 – Summarized analysis for the three considered management schemes

From the 75 performed simulations, roughly 70% (53 simulations) presented a defined convex curve, showing that an increase in the ESS capacity may not correspond to a linear improvement of the optimization parameters. In fact, most of the non-dominated solutions presented a point or zone (i.e. turning point) in which the objective functions cease to improve.



Figure 4-23 – Isometric view of scenario 51 results (Scheme 3)

Considering the distribution example presented in Figure 4-23, for scenario 51, which combines the renewable generation prototype#1 with the average annual LD when using the energy market price prototype #1, the turning point for NEL optimization can be observed. Regarding the original NEL (without ESS) of 8 431.06 kWh/day, all the non-dominated solutions enable a NEL reduction. However, if the objective is to minimize NEL, some solutions should be rejected due to their small impact.

This type of methods has the advantage of allowing the DM to choose solutions by setting tradeoffs, since among the minimum NEL solutions there are several possible choices. Figure 4-24 shows the NERB versus NEL results for scenario 51 (MSch C - Renewable integration), illustrating the turning point/zone for NEL optimization.



Figure 4-24 – 2D view of Scenario 51 by comparing NERB and NEL results

As shown in Figure 4-25, several solutions could be chosen (varying the NERB between 14€ and 28€ per day) for the same final NEL result of 8 420 kWh/day.





Based on the information provided in Figure 4-24 and Figure 4-25 the DM chooses the most favorable solution (e.g., by establishing an investment limit).

A significant NVqmd variation among non-dominated solutions was observed in simulation scenarios 15, 20 and 25, regarding the MSch A and simulation scenarios
69 and 70 and 74, regarding the MSch C. Except for scenario 74, the aforementioned simulations have in common the related number of C/D periods. Scenarios 68, 71, 72 and 73 also presented an increase in NVqmd, when compared with the original values, but, to smaller values.

On average, the DEESS produced an increase of the NVqmd (by 0.0050 pu), while the remaining scenarios showed a slight reduction of the NVqmd (by 0.0007 pu). The increase was higher (about 0.0168 pu) for the MSch A scenarios 15, 20 and 25. In the MSch C, the NVqmd increased (by 0.0011pu) in 36% of the studied scenarios.

All the mentioned C/D profiles have in common the existence of two charging and discharging periods, increasing the probability to charge and discharge in critical capacity periods.

In the MSch B scenarios, the NVqmd did not present a significant variation of the non-dominated solutions. Maybe due to the best match of the C/D periods along the diagram. Moreover, the solutions with smaller impacts regarding the NVqmd where related with higher daily C/D cycles scenarios (i.e. equal to three), namely in scenario 26,31,36,41 and 46.

The Pareto front distribution of solutions of scenario 20 and scenario 31 is represented in Figure 4-26 and Figure 4-27, respectively. Detailed information about each scenario best NVqmd is presented in Table 4-11.



Figure 4-26 – 2D view of Scenario 20 (MSch A) by comparing NVqmd and NEL results



Figure 4-27 – 2D view of Scenario 31 (MSch B) by comparing NVqmd and NEL results

		NIV/amd		Chara	rg <sub>Disch</sub> Charg	arg	NI\/am	NVqm		Chara	
Scenario	NVqmd	improv.	Disch.	charg	Disch.	unarg	Scenario	d	d	Disch.	Disch. Charg.
	[มน]	[มน]	[%]	[%]	[ทม]	[ทม]	-	[มน]		[%]	[%] [pu] [pu]
1	0 101	0.000	-9.4	12.2	-0.008	0.009	29	0 101	-0.001	-8.4	
2	0.101	0.000	-9.8	13.0	-0.009	0.009	34	0.101	-0.001	-9.8	17.6 -0.010 0.010
3	0.101	0.000	-9.4	12.4	-0.008	0.009	39	0.101	-0.001	-9.4	16.9 -0.010 0.010
4	0.101	0.000	-9.6	12.8	-0.008	0.009	44	0.101	-0.001	-9.0	16.1 -0.009 0.009
5	0.101	0.000	-8.6	11.0	-0.007	0.008	49	0.101	-0.001	-9.2	16.4 -0.009 0.009
6	0.101	0.000	-8.9	13.0	-0.008	0.009	30	0.101	-0.001	-9.5	22.2 -0.010 0.009
7	0.101	0.000	-8.7	13.2	-0.009	0.009	35	0.101	-0.001	-9.8	23.0 -0.010 0.010
8	0.101	0.000	-9.1	13.9	-0.009	0.009	40	0.101	-0.001	-9.1	21.3 -0.009 0.009
9	0.101	0.000	-10.3	14.5	-0.009	0.010	45	0.101	-0.001	-10.1	23.8 -0.010 0.010
10	0.101	-0.001	-8.3	11.7	-0.008	0.008	50	0.101	-0.001	-10.5	24.8 -0.011 0.010
11	0.101	0.000	-9.4	16.2	-0.009	0.009	51	0.101	0.000	-8.9	13.5 -0.009 0.009
12	0.101	0.000	-9.0	15.1	-0.009	0.009	52	0.101	0.000	-9.8	14.9 -0.010 0.010
13	0.101	0.000	-9.5	16.0	-0.009	0.009	53	0.101	0.000	-9.7	14.6 -0.009 0.010
14	0.101	0.000	-9.2	15.7	-0.009	0.009	54	0.101	0.000	-10.0	15.2 -0.010 0.010
15	0.101	0.017	-7.4	10.3	-0.007	0.008	55	0.101	0.000	-9.9	15.0 -0.010 0.010
16	0.101	0.000	-10.4	16.2	-0.009	0.009	56	0.101	0.000	-8.7	13.1 -0.009 0.009
17	0.101	0.000	-10.4	16.4	-0.009	0.009	57	0.101	0.000	-9.9	15.0 -0.010 0.011
18	0.101	0.000	-10.3	16.1	-0.009	0.009	58	0.101	0.000	-9.1	13.7 -0.009 0.010
19	0.101	0.000	-9.1	16.0	-0.009	0.009	59	0.101	0.000	-8.9	13.4 -0.009 0.009
20	0.101	0.016	-7.3	10.1	-0.007	0.007	60	0.101	0.000	-9.3	14.1 -0.009 0.010
21	0.101	0.000	-10.7	22.4	-0.010	0.010	61	0.101	0.000	-8.9	14.1 -0.008 0.009
22	0.101	0.000	-11.1	23.1	-0.010	0.010	62	0.101	0.000	-9.1	14.5 -0.009 0.009
23	0.101	0.000	-10.6	22.1	-0.010	0.010	63	0.101	0.000	-9.7	15.4 -0.009 0.010
24	0.101	0.000	-9.7	21.4	-0.009	0.009	64	0.101	0.000	-9.3	14.7 -0.009 0.009
25	0.101	0.018	-6.5	10.4	-0.006	0.007	65	0.101	0.000	-9.1	14.5 -0.009 0.009
26	0.101	-0.002	-8.4	11.2	-0.008	0.008	66	0.101	0.001	-9.1	12.2 -0.008 0.009
31	0.101	-0.002	-8.1	10.9	-0.007	0.008	67	0.101	0.000	-8.8	11.7 -0.008 0.008
36	0.101	-0.002	-8.8	11.7	-0.008	0.009	68	0.101	0.001	-9.6	12.8 -0.008 0.009
41	0.101	-0.002	-7.6	10.2	-0.007	0.008	69	0.101	0.002	-9.2	12.3 -0.008 0.009
46	0.101	-0.002	-8.3	11.1	-0.008	0.008	70	0.101	0.002	-9.6	12.8 -0.008 0.009
27	0.101	-0.001	-8.6	12.2	-0.008	0.009	71	0.101	0.001	-9.4	12.5 -0.009 0.010
32	0.101	-0.001	-9.0	12.8	-0.008	0.009	72	0.101	0.001	-9.2	12.3 -0.009 0.010
37	0.101	-0.001	-9.4	13.4	-0.009	0.009	73	0.101	0.001	-9.3	12.4 -0.009 0.010
42	0.101	-0.001	-8.6	12.4	-0.008	0.009	74	0.101	0.002	-10.5	14.1 -0.011 0.012
47	0.101	-0.001	-8.6	12.2	-0.008	0.009	75	0.101	0.001	-10.1	13.4 -0.010 0.011
28	0.101	0.000	-9.1	15.9	-0.009	0.009	-				
33	0.101	0.000	-9.9	17.4	-0.010	0.010	_				
38	0.101	0.000	-9.7	16.9	-0.010	0.010	_				
43	0.101	0.000	-9.3	16.3	-0.009	0.010	_				
48	0.101	0.000	-10.0	17.6	-0.010	0.010					

Table 4-11 – NVqmd impacts per scenario

The influence of each C/D period in the results showed that DEESS have different impacts on each working period when compared to the same period of the network without storage. On average, the voltage deviation showed a reduction of 9.28% when discharging, and an increase of 14.89% when charging among all the seventy five tested scenarios.

Considering the results and the NVqmd objective function (which considers the maximum daily voltage deviation for each individual), a possible improvement may

derive from a dynamic optimization of the C/D profile, in order to maximize the possible gain resulting from the time difference.

Among MSch B scenarios it was observed that scenarios with three C/D periods presented (namely scenarios 26,31,36,41 and 46) the smallest NEL improvement among all the studied MSch B scenarios. In fact the best results regarding the NEL used only one daily C/D cycle namely the ones tested in scenarios 30, 35, 40, 45, 50. Therefore, results showed the influence of the C/D periods in the optimization process and associated impacts.



Figure 4-28 – Isometric view of scenario 35 results (MSch B)

Considering different scenarios and/or overlaying different Pareto fronts, the DM could both perform the interactive search for the optimal solution, as well as to analyze the impact range of the overlaid Pareto fronts as represented in Figure 4-29. Another possibility can be the definition of weights and the search for the minimum Euclidian distance to the ideal solution as represented in Figure 4-28.



Figure 4-29 – 2D representation results for NEL, NSAC

The results for scenarios 21, 22 and 24, showed that, for solutions with similar NEL results of 7 205.0 kWh, only 9 out of 48 buses were identical (Table 4-12). The results showed that predefining the admissible buses for DEESS installation and capacity optimization, as performed in previous studies (Ippolito et al., 2014), (Fossati et al., 2015), might have limitations, because different buses may present different advantages for different energy services.

Scen	ario	os		Scen	ario	os		Scenarios				
Bus N.º	21	22	24	Bus N.º	21	22	24	Bus N.º	21	22	24	
6	1	1	1	26	0	1	0	49	0	0	0	
7	0	1	0	27	0	0	0	50	0	0	0	
8	1	0	0	28	0	0	0	51	0	0	0	
9	1	0	1	29	0	0	0	52	1	0	0	
10	1	1	1	33	0	0	0	53	0	0	1	
11	0	1	0	34	0	0	0	54	1	1	1	
12	1	0	1	35	0	0	0	55	0	1	0	
13	1	1	0	36	0	0	0	59	1	1	1	
14	0	1	0	37	0	0	0	61	1	1	1	
16	1	1	1	39	0	0	0	62	1	1	1	
17	0	1	0	40	0	0	0	64	1	1	1	
18	0	1	0	41	0	0	0	65	1	1	1	
20	1	0	1	43	0	1	0	66	1	1	0	
21	1	0	0	45	0	0	0	67	0	0	0	
22	1	1	0	46	1	0	0	68	0	1	0	
24	0	0	0	48	1	0	0	69	1	1	0	

Table 4-12 – Comparison results for scenarios 21, 22 and 24 with 7 205.0kWh NEL result

Figure 4-29 shows the two-dimensional analysis for NEL and NSAC. For similar NSAC, different NEL could be obtained, depending on the C/D profile definition. Again, the choice of the solution among the set of non-dominated solutions of Pareto front requires an analysis by the DM. As an example, a line can be drawn with a constant NSAC (as shown in Figure 4-29), which represents the maximum admissible investment level to be considered. The intersection of the line with a bi-dimensional Pareto front, might be a potential solution for the DM. The corresponding location for the storage units can then be represented on the network topology scheme, as presented in Figure 4-30 or as presented in Table 4-12, where the assignment of units is marked with "1".

For the specific DM preferences used in the example, repeated DEESS locations were obtained for different management schemes (namely in nodes 54, 55, 59, 61, 62, 64, and 69). This behavior pattern reveals the most critical nodes in the network in which storage obtained the best results, according to the stated preferences.



Figure 4-30 – Location set for DEESS installation considering three different management schemes

The obtained results in MSch B were not economically appealing, since the highest results (associated with scenario 36), only achieved around 76  $\in$ /day, roughly 27 740  $\in$ /year, for a total estimated annualized cost of 140 359  $\in$ .

The results are aligned with previous proposals (Eyer et al., 2004), (Kempton & Tomić, 2005) to combine benefits, in order to increase the final energy storage benefit (e.g., reducing the GHG emissions or providing regulation services).

### 4.6.4 Externalities: avoided GHG

The EEX auction platform is hereby used as the reference for emission allowances, in order to obtain real data of GHG costs commonly accepted by the majority of European countries. The EU ETS is a policy to combat climate change and reduce industrial GHG emissions. This is currently the largest international system for trading GHG emission allowances, covering more than 11 000 power stations and industrial plants (in 31 countries), and it uses auctioning as the basic principle to allocate allowances (Commission, 2015e), (EEX, 2014). In 2013, more than 40% of all allowances were auctioned, and these figures are expected to increase in the following years. The role of transitional common auction platform to deploy the use of allowances has been awarded by EEX (on behalf of 24 Member States and Poland) during a transitional period.

The environmental assessment is performed based on the following assumptions:

- The reference price for emissions is an annual average price;
- The avoided emissions are established *a priori* by the DM, considering available conventional power plants for energy regulation (such as coal and natural gas); and
- Avoided emissions calculation should use the efficiency of the specific power plant;

Since efficiency depends on specific power plant characteristics, the efficiency indicators for Portuguese power plants (ERSE, 2012) are considered, to obtain the associated emissions. Therefore, in order to calculate GHG emissions for the case study task, the following data and assumption were considered:

- Allowances annual average price (*AAAP*) in 2013: 4.19 [€/t CO<sub>2</sub>];
- Avoided power plant technology: Coal;
- Power plant emission factor (*PP<sub>ef</sub>*): 897 [g/kWh];
- The charged energy in the DEESS is obtained from a RE source.

Choosing a technology to be partially replaced by DEESS should account for the market offer. However, due to data limitations, the study assumes an avoided power plant technology.

The avoided GHG emissions are calculated using equation (25) where  $E_{dch}$  relates the DEESS discharged energy to the network.

$$GHG [tCO2] = \frac{E_{dch} \times PP_{ef}}{10^6}$$
(25)

Hence, the daily avoided cost in GHG emissions ( $COST_{GHG}$ ) is calculated using equation (26).

$$COST_{GHG}[\notin/day] = GHG \times AAAP$$
(26)

As an example, the solution obtained with minimum Euclidian distance to each Pareto front for all the 75 scenarios (see section 4.6.2), resulted on an average daily GHG reduction of 0.593 tCO<sub>2</sub>/day with an estimated avoided cost of 2.48 €/day (905.20 €/year) not enough to obtain a positive net benefit. The results were obtained considered the same avoided cost for all the 365 days and average discharge energy of 27.80 kWh/day.

Since the CO<sub>2</sub> price was indexed to the annual average price of allowances in the EU ETS and considering the worldwide economic crisis, it may be expectable that the economic value of allowances would increase, as result of the expected economic growth, augmenting the positive impact of ESS and consequently the economic viability of those systems.

# 4.6.5 Power regulation services (availability for frequency control)

Even with a surplus tariff, the cost and the efficiency of storage devices is the cause of a not sufficiently attractive revenue, showing that significant efficiency improvements are needed if the operational advantages of DEESS are to be matched within a real business opportunity. For example, in scenario 36 the annualized cost for the highest NERB results was 140 359 €/year, far larger than the daily benefit of 76 € (roughly 27 740 €/year). However, results showed that DEESS may play an important role in the power regulation market since it could reduce roughly an average of 904 kVA (19.42%) when discharging the batteries, and increase LD by 1 110kVA (23.82%) when charging. Figure 4-31 shows the possible range of DEESS in the daily diagram for all the non-dominated solutions in scenario 36.



Figure 4-31 – Scenario 36 non-dominated solutions impact on the SE LD.

Even without economic attractiveness for simply buying and selling energy, results show how important DEESS may prove to be for a network, providing power services which can be paid for. An example may be the possibility of replacing at least part of the existing conventional generators which are being used simply as backup generators. However, due to the lack of regulation on this issue, an adequate framework should be developed to deploy energy storage applications.

#### 4.6.6 Sensitivity analysis

Using the optimization process results as reference, several feed-in tariffs were simulated to verify the associated NERB and also to make a preliminary assessment of the values required for obtaining a positive net benefit of deploying DEESS. Considering non-dominated solutions associated to each MSch, the solutions with the highest NERB were selected, i.e., scenarios 15, 36 and 66 with 23, 24 and 21 batteries to install in buses, comprising MSch 1, 2 and 3, respectively.

Surp	olus feed-i	in tariff	M	ISch 1 -	NERB	Ν	/ISch 2	- NERB	MSch 3 - NERB			
NI 0	[€]	$\Delta$	∆ Daily		Annual	Daily	$\Delta$	Annual	Daily	$\Delta$	Annual	
IN. <sup>2</sup>		[%]	[€]	[%]	[€]	[€]	[%]	[€]	[€]	[%]	[€]	
1	28.14	0%	31.60	0%	11 565.63 €	38.58	0%	14 120.74 €	25.6	0%	9 376.40 €	
2	38.14	36%	41.19	30%	15 075.93 €	53.59	39%	19 615.13 €	34.4	34%	12 581.46 €	
3	48.14	71%	50.78	61%	18 586.24 €	68.61	78%	25 109.53 €	43.1	68%	15 786.53 €	
4	58.14	107%	60.37	91%	22 096.54 €	83.62	117%	30 603.92 €	51.9	103%	18 991.59€	
5	68.14	142%	69.96	121%	25 606.85 €	98.63	156%	36 098.31 €	60.6	137%	22 196.65€	
6	78.14	178%	79.56	152%	29 117.16€	113.64	195%	41 592.70 €	69.4	171%	25 401.71 €	
7	88.14	213%	89.15	182%	32 627.46 €	128.65	233%	47 087.09€	78.2	205%	28 606.77 €	
8	190.86	578%	187.67	494%	68 686.59€	282.86	633%	103 527.47 €	168.1	556%	61 530.33 €	
9	132.89	372%	132.06	318%	48 335.10 €	195.83	408%	71 672.96 €	117.3	358%	42 948.53€	
10	194.56	591%	191.21	505%	69 982.82€	288.41	648%	105 556.35 €	171.3	569%	62 713.84 €	
11	187.11	565%	184.06	482%	67 367.27 €	277.22	619%	101 462.44 €	164.8	543%	60 325.73 €	
12	129.13	359%	128.46	307%	47 015.78€	190.19	393%	69 607.93€	114.1	345%	41 743.93€	
13	190.80	578%	187.61	494%	68 663.50 €	282.76	633%	103 491.32 €	168.1	556%	61 509.24 €	

Table 4-13 - Sensitivity analysis applied to objective function NERB

Table 22 shows a sensitivity analysis on the influence of the surplus feed-in tariff on the results. Benefits may have higher relative impacts than the relative variation of the tariff. As an example, for a 36% variation of the surplus feed-in tariff, the network energy rate benefit increased by 30%, 39% and 34%, depending on the MSch being 1, 2 or 3, respectively.

The results showed the importance of market prices to ease the DEESS interest. As an example, scenarios 15 and 66 should increase by 6% and 2% in order to present a similar evolution to the tested surplus feed-in tariffs. Moreover, DEESS only presents a net positive economic result when the surplus feed-in tariff increase to 190.86€/MWh, 132.89€/MWh and 194.56€ for MSch 1, 2 and 3, respectively. Such values are approximately 5 to 7 times higher than the surplus feed-in tariff used in the year 2008.

If GHG emission reduction was considered as DEESS additional revenue measured (as presented in section 4.6.4), the surplus feed-in tariff would have to be increased to 187.11 €/MWh, 129.13 €/MWh and 190.80 €/MWh for MSch 1, 2 and 3,

respectively (about 2% lower values, when compared to results without considering GHG emissions).

Even considering an hypothetical efficiency of 100%, DEESS would need a surplus feed-in tariff between 4 to 6 times higher than the one currently used for the management schemes (approximately  $165.18 \in MWh$ ,  $112.07 \in MWh$  and  $167.16 \in$  for MSch 1, 2 and 3, respectively).

The results show that DEESS can only become attractive if the economic benefit results from more than just energy purchasing and selling. Future viability should also include power demand services besides energy service, taking profit of its fast response capability to network requests of power demand.

### THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

# **5** Conclusions and future work

This thesis presents a methodology to provide the decision maker (DM) the relevant information needed to define his/her preferred locations of distributed energy storage devices on an electrical distribution network, taking into account both economic and technical impacts. The methodology also assists on the definition of the best schedule for the storage units operation, aiming to optimize four objective functions which are some of the main objectives of DEESS presented in the literature: the minimization of power losses, voltage deviation and investment, as well as the maximization of the revenue resulting from the difference between energy sale and energy purchase prices at different time periods. Except for power losses and voltage deviation, the chosen objectives have no interdependencies, making the use of a multiobjective genetic algorithm a suitable choice for this problem. The consequence is that, instead of being presented with an "optimal solution", the DM will have to choose the preferred solution from the highest quality set of non-dominated solutions presented by the search tool, assuming tradeoffs between the objectives.

The research question to be answered took into consideration the circumstances in which urban DEESS would be feasible. The answer to this question strongly depends on the associated technological costs, being this feature one of the most important issues for DEESS economic viability and attractiveness. Results showed that a higher technological efficiency of DEESS devices would be very important to achieve a positive economic benefit. Even with the possible future use of a suitable feed-in-tariff, DEESS feasibility may depend of combining energy, power and environmental services for increasing its economic attractiveness.

The economic CO<sub>2</sub> impact assessed within the EU ETS market was not enough to obtain a positive economic benefit within the chosen case-study. The low market value of the considered emissions limited the contribution of this potential benefit to the viability of the solution. Therefore, the viability of DEESS is highly dependent of the consideration of all possible positive impacts.

The possibility of assessing power generation costs could have helped to increase the DEESS interest. However, this possibility proved to be unfeasible since the current energy market runs on daily energy auctions, the market players not being required to inform on their assumed costs when delivering the contracted energy.

The availability of DEESS depends on the envisaged management scheme since the ESS can only provide a service at a time. The energy services to be provided are restrained by the considered technology, with different performance impacts (more or less severe) and different costs (e.g. those dependent on the expected lifetime), being battery storage technologies able to provide most of the energy services to the network.

The location and sparsity of storage units strongly depends on the used management scheme. Different impact results and solutions are obtained for different management schemes, suggesting the need to incorporate also this level of decision on the multiple objective formulation. A definitive solution implies naturally the analysis of the possible tradeoffs according to the preferences of the DM, which could be any private investor, the DSO or an authority. Depending on the stakeholder, different objectives could be pursued, leading to a different final "best" choice among the non-dominated solutions.

The developed work enlightened the need to have a framework that stimulates existing or new market players to invest on ESS as a way to increase the share of renewable energy, by storing energy generated on surplus periods to be used when generation is limited. One possible approach to this objective could consist of using a feed-in-tariff scheme, rewarding energy recovered from energy storage on an equivalent basis to the energy delivered directly to the grid by renewable generators. The MSch profile definition for renewable integration should take into consideration the real behavior of the wind, in order to obtain a plausible management scheme of the DEESS, as well as, to calculate the associated benefit. Although initially unforeseen, a data clustering process enabled the use of real data prototypes of prices, load diagrams and wind generation, allowing a more accurate definition of the impacts of the use of storage devices.

In order to improve the developed methodology, future work should include the following directions:

 To incorporate a dynamic C/D optimization routine, searching for the best ESS management scheme, given the economical and technical contraints;

- To consider the deployment of distributed renewable generation within distribution networks, a future research should include the impact assessment of DEESS, when facing the non dispatchable injection of small power generation. This feature will enhance the suppletive nature of DEESS by characterizing and additional element of the complex energy market environment.
- To increase the number of objective functions in order to assess the influence of DEESS capacity on the profile diagram, and to include the assessment of regulation services such as the secondary and tertiary frequency regulation control;
- To include a second optimization procedure to define the optimal capacity of individual units per installation site. This feature may introduce some insights regarding the assessment of best location of DEESS as well as give insights on how storage capacity could influence the network global performance.

### THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

# 6 References

- Almeida, P. M. R., Lopes, J. A. P., Soares, F. J., & Seca, L. (2011). Electric vehicles participating in frequency control: Operating islanded systems with large penetration of renewable power sources. In 2011 IEEE Trondheim PowerTech (pp. 1–6). IEEE. doi:10.1109/PTC.2011.6019424
- Balcells, J., & Garcia, J. (2010). Impact of plug-in electric vehicles on the supply grid. In 2010 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference (pp. 1–4). IEEE. doi:10.1109/VPPC.2010.5729217
- Barton, J. P., & Infield, D. G. (2004). Energy storage and its use with intermittent renewable energy. *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, *19*(2), 441–448. doi:10.1109/TEC.2003.822305
- Battistelli, C., Baringo, L., & Conejo, A. J. (2012). Optimal energy management of small electric energy systems including V2G facilities and renewable energy sources. *Electric Power Systems Research*, *92*, 50–59. doi:10.1016/j.epsr.2012.06.002
- Beer, S., Gomez, T., Dallinger, D., Momber, I., Marnay, C., Stadler, M., & Lai, J. (2012). An Economic Analysis of Used Electric Vehicle Batteries Integrated Into Commercial Building Microgrids. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 3(1), 517–525. doi:10.1109/TSG.2011.2163091
- BuyA123baterries. (2014). buyA123batteries. *Authorized Online Reseller of A123 Energy Solutions Cells & Modules*. Retrieved April 15, 2014, from http://www.buya123batteries.com/category\_s/1825.htm
- Chen, H., Cong, T. N., Yang, W., Tan, C., Li, Y., & Ding, Y. (2009). Progress in electrical energy storage system: A critical review. *Progress in Natural Science*, *19*(3), 291–312. doi:10.1016/j.pnsc.2008.07.014
- Chen, T., Hsieh, T., Yang, N.-C., Yang, J., & Liao, C. (2013). Evaluation of advantages of an energy storage system using recycled EV batteries. *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, 45(1), 264–270. doi:10.1016/j.ijepes.2012.08.037
- Clímaco, J., & Antunes, C. H. (1994). On the application of TRIMAP to problems with multiple decision makers. *Annals of Operations Research*, *51*(3), 99–114. doi:10.1007/BF02032479
- Clímaco, J. N., Antunes, C. H., & Alves, M. J. G. (2003). *Programação linear multiobjectivo*. (I. da U. de Coimbra, Ed.) (1.ª ed.). Imprensa da Universidade de Coimbra.
- Commission, E. (2005). *ExternE-Externalities of Energy*. (B. Peter & F. Rainer, Eds.) (2005th ed.). Europe: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- Commission, E. (2015a). Climate action: 2050 Energy strategy. Retrieved August 15, 2015, from http://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/energy-strategy/2050-energy-strategy
- Commission, E. (2015b). Climate action: 2050 low-carbon economy. Retrieved August 15, 2015, from http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/strategies/2050/index\_en.htm
- Commission, E. (2015c). Climate action: Carbon Capture and Geological Storage. Retrieved August 15, 2015, from http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/lowcarbon/ccs/index\_en.htm
- Commission, E. (2015d). Climate action: International carbon market. Retrieved August 11, 2015, from http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/ets/linking/index\_en.htm
- Commission, E. (2015e). The EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS). Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/ets/index\_en.htm

- Cvetkovic, I., Thacker, T., Francis, G., Podosinov, V., Boroyevich, D., Wang, F., Burgos, R., Skutt, G., & Lesko, J. (2009). Future home uninterruptible renewable energy system with vehicle-to-grid technology. 2009 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, 2675–2681. doi:10.1109/ECCE.2009.5316064
- Deb, K., Pratap, A., Agarwal, S., & Meyarivan, T. (2002). A fast and elitist multiobjective genetic algorithm: NSGA-II. *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, 6(2), 182–197. doi:10.1109/4235.996017
- Divya, K. C., & Østergaard, J. (2009). Battery energy storage technology for power systems—An overview. *Electric Power Systems Research*, 79(4), 511–520. doi:10.1016/j.epsr.2008.09.017
- Dufo-López, R., & Bernal-Agustín, J. L. (2015). Techno-economic analysis of gridconnected battery storage. *Energy Conversion and Management*, *91*, 394–404. doi:10.1016/j.enconman.2014.12.038
- Dyke, K. J., Schofield, N., & Barnes, M. (2010). The Impact of Transport Electrification on Electrical Networks. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, *57*(12), 3917–3926. doi:10.1109/TIE.2010.2040563
- EDP Distribuiçao. (2004). POSTOS DE TRANSFORMAÇÃO MT / BT DE DISTRIBUIÇÃO. Retrieved from http://www.edpdistribuicao.pt/pt/profissionais/Lists/EDPDocumentosNormativos/Attac hments/340/DMA-C13-910N.pdf
- EDP Distribuição. (2011). *Relatório de Qualidade de Serviço 2010*. Retrieved from https://www.edpdistribuicao.pt/pt/qualidade/Relatrios de Qualidade de Servio/Relatório Qualidade de Serviço 2010.pdf
- EEX. (2014). European Energy Exchange. Retrieved April 15, 2014, from http://www.eex.com
- Electricity Storage Association. (2011). Electricity Storage Association. Retrieved December 26, 2015, from http://www.electricitystorage.org/technology/storage\_technologies/technology\_compa rison
- EPRI. (2010). Electric Energy Storage Technology Options: A White Paper Primer on Applications, Costs, and Benefits. Palo Alto, CA, 2010.1020676.
- ERSE. (2009). Explanatory information note on special regime production (Title in portuguese: "Nota explicativa da informação sobre produção em regime especial"). Lisbon, Portugal: ERSE Entidade Reguladora dos Serviços Energéticos.
- ERSE. (2012). Comércio europeu de licenças de emissão de gases com efeito de estufa análise para Portugal do período 2005-2010 Janeiro. Lisbon, Portugal: ERSE - Entidade Reguladora dos Serviços Energéticos.
- ERSE. (2013). Special regime production (SRP) information. Continental Portugal. Updated data in May 2013. (Title in portuguese: Informação sobre produção em regime especial (PRE). Portugal Continental. Dados actualizados a maio de 2013.). Lisbon, Portugal: ERSE-Entidade Reguladora dos Serviços Energéticos.
- Everitt, B. S., Landau, S., Leese, M., & Stahl, D. (2011). *Cluster Analysis*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. doi:10.1002/9780470977811
- Eyer, J. M., Iannucci, J. J., & Corey, G. P. (2004). *Energy Storage Benefits and Market Analysis Handbook A Study for the DOE Energy Storage Systems Program* (SAND2004-6177). Albuquerque, New Mexico and Livermore, California.

Fairley, P. (2011). Flywheels Keep the Grid in Tune. IEEE Spectrum. Retrieved March 1,

2012, from http://spectrum.ieee.org/energy/the-smarter-grid/flywheels-keep-the-grid-in-tune

- Faruqui, A., Hledik, R., Newell, S., & Pfeifenberger, H. (2007). The Power of 5 Percent. *The Electricity Journal*, *20*(8), 68–77. doi:10.1016/j.tej.2007.08.003
- Fossati, J. P., Galarza, A., Martín-Villate, A., & Fontán, L. (2015). A method for optimal sizing energy storage systems for microgrids. *Renewable Energy*, 77, 539–549. doi:10.1016/j.renene.2014.12.039
- Gerkensmeyer, C., Kintner-Meyer, M., & DeSteese, J. (2010). *Technical Challenges of Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicles and Impacts to the US Power System : Distribution System Analysis.*
- Gonçalves, J., Neves, L., & Martins, A. G. (2015a). Multiobjective Methodology for Assessing the Location of Distributed Electric Energy Storage. In C. Di Chio, A. Brabazon, G. A. Di Caro, M. Ebner, M. Farooq, A. Fink, J. Grahl, G. Greenfield, P. Machado, M. O'Neill, E. Tarantino, & N. Urquhart (Eds.), *Applications of Evolutionary Computation* (Vol. 6025, pp. 227–238). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-16549-3\_19
- Gonçalves, J., Neves, L. P., & Martins, A. G. (2015b). Multiobjective assessment of distributed energy storage location in electricity networks. *International Journal of Sustainable Energy*, (July), 1–15. doi:10.1080/14786451.2015.1066787
- Gonçalves, J., Vitorino, R. M., Neves, L. M. P., & Martins, A. G. (2013). Assessment of best location of distributed storage using improved genetic algorithms'. In *Energy for Sustainability 2013, Sustainable Cities: Designing for People and the Planet* (p. 7). Coimbra: Energy for Sustainability 2013.
- Grant, M., Choate, A., & Pederson, L. (2006). Assessment of Greenhouse Gas Analysis Techniques for Transportation Projects (NCHRP 25-25(17)). ICF Consulting. Virginia.
- Hadley, S. W., & Tsvetkova, A. a. (2009). Potential Impacts of Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles on Regional Power Generation. *The Electricity Journal*, 22(10), 56–68. doi:10.1016/j.tej.2009.10.011
- Hittinger, E., Whitacre, J. F. F., & Apt, J. (2012). What properties of grid energy storage are most valuable? *Journal of Power Sources*, 206, 436–449. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2011.12.003
- Ibrahim, H., Ilinca, a, & Perron, J. (2008). Energy storage systems—Characteristics and comparisons. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 12(5), 1221–1250. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2007.01.023
- Ipakchi, A., & Albuyeh, F. (2009). Grid of the future. *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine*, 7(2), 52–62. doi:10.1109/MPE.2008.931384
- Ippolito, M. G., Di Silvestre, M. L., Riva Sanseverino, E., Zizzo, G., & Graditi, G. (2014). Multi-objective optimized management of electrical energy storage systems in an islanded network with renewable energy sources under different design scenarios. *Energy*, *64*, 648–662. doi:10.1016/j.energy.2013.11.065
- Iris, C., & Asan, S. S. (2012). Computational Intelligence Systems in Industrial Engineering. *Computational Intelligence Systems in Industrial Engineering*, 6, 203–230. doi:10.2991/978-94-91216-77-0
- John, J. St. (2014). A123's Path Back to Grid-Scale Battery Business. *Greentechgrid*. Retrieved April 15, 2014, from http://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/a123s-path-back-to-grid-scale-battery-business

Kacprzyk;, J., & Pedrycz, W. (Eds.). (2015). Springer Handbook of Computational

Intelligence. Neuroanatomy (Springer.). Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-30574-0

- Kempton, W., & Tomić, J. (2005). Vehicle-to-grid power fundamentals: Calculating capacity and net revenue. *Journal of Power Sources*, 144(1), 268–279. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2004.12.025
- Ki-moon, B. (2008). Kyoto Protocol Reference Manual. In *United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change* (p. 130). doi:10.5213/jkcs.1998.2.2.62
- Kintner-Meyer., M., Schneider, K., & Pratt, R. (2007). *Impacts assessment of plug-in hybrid* vehicles on electric utilities and regional u.s. Power grids part 1: technical analysis.
- Klamroth, K., & Miettinen, K. (2008). Integrating Approximation and Interactive Decision Making in Multicriteria Optimization. *Operations Research*. doi:10.1287/opre.1070.0425
- Kohonen, T. (1998). The self-organizing map. *Neurocomputing*, *21*(1-3), 1–6. doi:10.1016/S0925-2312(98)00030-7
- Koyanagi, F., & Uriu, Y. (1998). A strategy of load leveling by charging and discharging time control of electric vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, *13*(3), 1179–1184. doi:10.1109/59.709117
- Kristoffersen, T. K., Capion, K., & Meibom, P. (2011). Optimal charging of electric drive vehicles in a market environment. *Applied Energy*, 88(5), 1940–1948. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2010.12.015
- Lassila, J., Haakana, J., Tikka, V., & Partanen, J. (2012). Methodology to Analyze the Economic Effects of Electric Cars as Energy Storages. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, *3*(1), 506–516. doi:10.1109/TSG.2011.2168548
- Le, H. T., & Nguyen, T. Q. (2008). Sizing energy storage systems for wind power firming: An analytical approach and a cost-benefit analysis. In 2008 IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting - Conversion and Delivery of Electrical Energy in the 21st Century (pp. 1–8). IEEE. doi:10.1109/PES.2008.4596223
- Le, H. T., Santoso, S., & Nguyen, T. Q. (2012). Augmenting Wind Power Penetration and Grid Voltage Stability Limits Using ESS: Application Design, Sizing, and a Case Study. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 27(1), 161–171. doi:10.1109/TPWRS.2011.2165302
- Leou, R.-C. (2012). An economic analysis model for the energy storage system applied to a distribution substation. *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, *34*(1), 132–137. doi:10.1016/j.ijepes.2011.09.016
- Lim, M., Chhabra, M., Pasrich, P., Newman, K., & Barnes, F. (2011). Frequency variations in hybrid renewable energy network with integrated storage. In 2011 IEEE International Conference on Smart Grid Communications (SmartGridComm) (pp. 599–604). IEEE. doi:10.1109/SmartGridComm.2011.6102392
- Lopes, J. A. P., Soares, F. J., & Almeida, P. M. R. (2011). Integration of Electric Vehicles in the Electric Power System. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 99(1), 168–183. doi:10.1109/JPROC.2010.2066250
- Martins, A. G. (1999). Energy-conscious urban planning and development- lessons from a case-study. In *Proc. of the eceee 1999 Summer Study* (p. Panel IV,07). Mandelieu, France.
- MIBEL' council of regulators. (2011). Regulatory harmonization for the integration of special regime production in the MIBEL and its electrical systems operation (Title in portuguese: "Harmonização regulatória da integração da Produção em Regime Especial no MIBEL e na operação dos respectivos.

- Miguel, P., Gonçalves, J., Neves, L., & Martins, A. G. (2016). Using clustering techniques to provide simulation scenarios for the smart grid. *Sustainable Cities and Society*. doi:10.1016/j.scs.2016.04.012
- Miguel, P., Neves, L., Martins, A. G., & Sousa, J. (2013). Review of load research studies applied to the Portuguese household sector. In *Energy Efficiency in Domestic appliances and lighting-EEDAL2013* (pp. 1–12). Coimbra. doi:10.2790/2313
- Milne, E., Neufeldt, H., Rosenstock, T., Smalligan, M., Cerri, C. E., Malin, D., Easter, M., Bernoux, M., Ogle, S., Casarim, F., Pearson, T., Bird, D. N., Steglich, E., Ostwald, M., Denef, K., & Paustian, K. (2013). Methods for the quantification of GHG emissions at the landscape level for developing countries in smallholder contexts. *Environmental Research Letters*, 8(1), 015019. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/015019
- Miyauchi, H., & Tashiro, D. (2009). Value evaluation of ancillary service offered by energy storage systems. 2009 Transmission & Distribution Conference & Exposition: Asia and Pacific, (2), 1–4. doi:10.1109/TD-ASIA.2009.5356824
- Mooi, E., & Sarstedt, M. (2010). Cluster Analysis. In *A Concise Guide to Market Research* (pp. 237–284). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-12541-6\_9
- Mora, G. A. V. (2012). *Uncertainty And State Estimation Of Power Systems*. University of Manchester.
- Moses, P. S., Deilami, S., Masoum, A. S., & Masoum, M. A. S. (2010). Power quality of smart grids with Plug-in Electric Vehicles considering battery charging profile. In 2010 IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Conference Europe (ISGT Europe) (pp. 1–7). IEEE. doi:10.1109/ISGTEUROPE.2010.5638983
- NEC. (2013). Grid Storage Solution (GSS) (p. 8). Westborough, MA: NEC Energy Solutions, Inc. Retrieved from http://www.neces.com/assets/NEC\_Grid\_Brochure\_MD100120-02-5.pdf
- Neves, M. P. (2004). Avaliação multicritério de iniciativas de eficiência energética, Tese de doutoramento em Engenharia Electrotécnica. University of Coimbra.
- Nguyen, M., Nguyen, D., & Yoon, Y. (2012). A New Battery Energy Storage Charging/Discharging Scheme for Wind Power Producers in Real-Time Markets. *Energies*, 5(12), 5439–5452. doi:10.3390/en5125439
- Paltsev, S., Reilly, J. M., JACOBY, H. D., GURGEL, A. C., METCALF, G. E., SOKOLOV, A. P., & HOLAK, J. F. (2008). Assessment of US GHG cap-and-trade proposals. *Climate Policy*, 8(4), 395–420. doi:10.3763/cpol.2007.0437
- Pieltain Fernandez, L., Gomez San Roman, T., Cossent, R., Mateo Domingo, C., & Frias, P. (2011). Assessment of the Impact of Plug-in Electric Vehicles on Distribution Networks. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 26(1), 206–213. doi:10.1109/TPWRS.2010.2049133
- Pillai, J. R., & Bak-Jensen, B. (2010). Impacts of electric vehicle loads on power distribution systems. 2010 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, 1–6. doi:10.1109/VPPC.2010.5729191
- Pujari, A. K., Rajesh, K., & Reddy, D. S. (2001). Clustering Techniques in Data Mining—A Survey. *IETE Journal of Research*, 47(1-2), 19–28. doi:10.1080/03772063.2001.11416199
- Qian, K., Zhou, C., Allan, M., & Yuan, Y. (2011). Modeling of Load Demand Due to EV Battery Charging in Distribution Systems. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 26(2), 802–810. doi:10.1109/TPWRS.2010.2057456

- Rahman, F., Rehman, S., & Abdul-Majeed, M. A. (2012). Overview of energy storage systems for storing electricity from renewable energy sources in Saudi Arabia. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 16(1), 274–283. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2011.07.153
- Rahman, S., & Shrestha, G. B. (1993). An investigation into the impact of electric vehicle load on the electric utility distribution system. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, 8(2), 591–597. doi:10.1109/61.216865
- Ribeiro, P. F., Johnson, B. K., Crow, M. L., Arsoy, A., & Liu, Y. (2001). Energy storage systems for advanced power applications. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 89(12), 1744– 1756. doi:10.1109/5.975900
- Rocha Almeida, P. M., Pecas Lopes, J. a., Soares, F. J., & Vasconcelos, M. H. (2010). Automatic Generation Control operation with electric vehicles. *2010 IREP Symposium Bulk Power System Dynamics and Control - VIII (IREP)*, 1–7. doi:10.1109/IREP.2010.5563295
- Sahoo, N. C., & Prasad, K. (2006). A fuzzy genetic approach for network reconfiguration to enhance voltage stability in radial distribution systems. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 47(18-19), 3288–3306. doi:10.1016/j.enconman.2006.01.004
- Salvador, S., & Chan, P. (2004). Determining the number of Clusters/Segments in Hierarchical Clustering/Segmentation Algorithms. In *Tools with Artificial Intelligence*, 2004. ICTAI 2004. 16th IEEE International Conference (pp. 576–584). doi:10.1109/ICTAI.2004.50
- Schoenung, S. (2011). Energy Storage Systems Cost Update A Study for the DOE Energy Storage Systems Program (Report SAND2011-2730). New Mexico and California: Sandia National Laboratories. Retrieved from http://prod.sandia.gov/techlib/accesscontrol.cgi/2011/112730.pdf
- Schoenung, S. M. (2001). Characteristics and Technologies for Long-vs. Short-Term Energy Storage A Study by the DOE Energy Storage Systems Program(Report SAND2001-0765). Retrieved from http://prod.sandia.gov/techlib/accesscontrol.cgi/2001/010765.pdf
- Schoenung, S. M., & Hassenzahl, W. V. (2003). Long- vs . Short-Term Energy Storage Technologies Analysis A Life-Cycle Cost Study A Study for the DOE Energy Storage Systems Program (Report SAND2003-2783), 1–84. Retrieved from http://prod.sandia.gov/techlib/access-control.cgi/2003/032783.pdf
- Sigrist, L., Lobato, E., & Rouco, L. (2013). Energy storage systems providing primary reserve and peak shaving in small isolated power systems: An economic assessment. *International Journal of Electrical Power and Energy Systems*, *53*(1), 675–683. doi:10.1016/j.ijepes.2013.05.046
- SmartGrids, E. T. P. (2012). SmartGrids SRA 2035 Strategic Research Agenda Update of the SmartGrids SRA 2007 for the needs by the year 2035. (R. Belmans, Ed.). European SmartGrids Platform.
- Sousa, J. M. C. (2006). Methodology for determination of Low Voltage consumer profiles, Master Thesis on Electrical and Computer Engineering (Title in portuguese: Metodologia para determinação de perfis de consumidores de Baixa Tensão, Dissertação de Mestrado em Engenharia Elect. (Universidade de Coimbra, Ed.). University of Coimbra, Coimbra, portugal.
- Sovacool, B. K., & Hirsh, R. F. (2009). Beyond batteries: An examination of the benefits and barriers to plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEVs) and a vehicle-to-grid (V2G) transition. *Energy Policy*, *37*(3), 1095–1103. doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2008.10.005

- Sutanto, D., & Lachs, W. (1998). Battery energy storage systems for sustainable energy development in Asia. *Electric Power Systems Research*, *44*(1), 61–67. doi:10.1016/S0378-7796(97)01209-1
- Systems, A. (2012). Nanophosphate Lithium Ion Prismatic Pouch Cell. A123 Systems, Inc.
- Systems, A. (2013). Nanophosphate Basics : An Overview of the Structure , Properties and Benefits of A123 Systems ' Proprietary Lithium Ion Battery Technology.
- Vartanian, C. (2010). Grid stability battery systems for renewable energy success. 2010 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, 132–135. doi:10.1109/ECCE.2010.5618059
- Vasconcelos, J. A., Ramirez, J. A., Takahashi, R. H. C., & Saldanha, R. R. (2001). Improvements in genetic algorithms. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, *37*(5), 3414–3417. doi:10.1109/20.952626
- Vasconcelos, J., Ruester, S., He, X., Chong, E., Glachant, J.-M., & Seventh Framework Programme (European Commission). (2012). *Electricity Storage : How to Facilitate its Deployment and Operation in the EU Final Report*. Firenze, Italy; Taipei, Taiwan: European University Institute; European Union Centre in Taiwan. doi:10.2870/41627
- Vitorino, R. M., Jorge, H. M., & Neves, L. P. (2009). *Network reconfiguration using an improved genetic algorithm for loss and reliability optimization in distribution systems, Research Report no. 7/2009, INESC Coimbra*. Coimbra.
- Vitorino, R. M., Jorge, H. M., & Neves, L. P. (2013). Loss and reliability optimization for power distribution system operation. *Electric Power Systems Research*, 96, 177–184. doi:10.1016/j.epsr.2012.11.002
- Vitorino, R. M., Jorge, H. M., & Neves, L. P. (2013). Multi-objective optimization using NSGA-II for power distribution system reconfiguration. *International Transactions on Electrical Energy Systems*, n/a–n/a. doi:10.1002/etep.1819
- Vitorino, R. M., Neves, L. P., & Jorge, H. M. (2009). Network reconfiguration to improve reliability and efficiency in distribution systems. 2009 IEEE Bucharest PowerTech, 1–7. doi:10.1109/PTC.2009.5281806
- Zimmerman, R. D., Murillo-Sanchez, C. E., & Thomas, R. J. (2011). MATPOWER: Steady-State Operations, Planning, and Analysis Tools for Power Systems Research and Education. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 26(1), 12–19. doi:10.1109/TPWRS.2010.2051168

# 7 Appendix



## 7.1 Management scheme A prototypes





Figure 7-2 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#2







Figure 7-4 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#4



Figure 7-5 – Analysis of the energy price variation for prototype#5



### 7.2 Management scheme B prototypes

Figure 7-6 – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#1



Figure 7-7 – Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#2







Figure 7-9 - Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#4

![](_page_134_Figure_5.jpeg)

Figure 7-10 - - Analysis of the variation of NEL for prototype#5

![](_page_135_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_135_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 7-11 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#1

![](_page_135_Figure_4.jpeg)

Figure 7-12 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#2

![](_page_135_Figure_6.jpeg)

Figure 7-13 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#3

![](_page_136_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 7-14 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#4

![](_page_136_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 7-15 – Renewable generation variation analysis when considering the average profile of LD and renewable generation prototype#5

# 7.4 Summarized results for MSch A

		Or	iginal				NVqmo [p.u.]	t	NSAC [€]		NERB [€]			
Sim./ Scenario		NVqmd [p.u.]	NEL [kWh/day]	Min.	Max.	NEL Variat. range	NEL improv.	Min.	Max.	NVqmd improv.	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.
	1	0,1012	7670,98	7671,00	7702,00	31,00	0,02	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	20905,00	131400,00	8,00	53,00
	2	0,1012	7670,98	7670,00	7696,00	26,00	-0,98	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	26877,00	131400,00	7,00	35,00
	3	0,1012	7670,98	7670,00	7696,00	26,00	-0,98	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	23891,00	131400,00	7,00	39,00
	4	0,1012	7670,98	7670,00	7690,00	20,00	-0,98	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	38823,00	116468,000	8,00	25,00
	5	0,1012	7670,98	7671,00	7725,00	54,00	0,02	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	26877,00	125428,00	12,00	58,00
	6	0,1012	7705,60	7698,00	7709,00	11,00	-7,60	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	20905,00	119455,00	8,00	48,00
	7	0,1012	7705,60	7693,00	7701,00	8,00	-12,60	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	119455,00	4,00	32,00
	8	0,1012	7705,60	7693,00	7703,00	10,00	-12,60	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	128414,00	4,00	38,00
	9	0,1012	7705,60	7702,00	7719,00	17,00	-3,60	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	32850,00	125428,00	7,00	27,00
	10	0,1012	7705,60	7696,00	7732,00	36,00	-9,60	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	11945,00	128414,00	5,00	59,00
	11	0,1012	8334,89	8312,00	8328,00	16,00	-22,89	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	11945,00	128414,00	5,00	52,00
∢	12	0,1012	8334,89	8316,00	8329,00	13,00	-18,89	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	11945,00	125428,00	3,00	33,00
Sch	13	0,1012	8334,89	8316,00	8327,00	11,00	-18,89	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	128414,00	4,00	38,00
Ĕ	14	0,1012	8334,89	8312,00	8327,00	15,00	-22,89	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	17918,00	119455,00	4,00	26,00
	15	0,1012	8334,89	8333,00	8392,00	59,00	-1,89	0,1010	0,1180	0,0168	17918,00	131400,00	8,00	60,00
	16	0,1012	7725,51	7717,00	7728,00	11,00	-8,51	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	23891,00	128414,00	10,00	52,00
	17	0,1012	7725,51	7716,00	7726,00	10,00	-9,51	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	23891,00	122441,00	6,00	32,00
	18	0,1012	7725,51	7716,00	7725,00	9,00	-9,51	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	23891,00	125428,00	7,00	37,00
	19	0,1012	7725,51	7699,00	7720,00	21,00	-26,51	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	8959,00	125428,00	2,00	27,00
	20	0,1012	7725,51	7724,00	7786,00	62,00	-1,51	0,1010	0,1170	0,0158	8959,00	131400,00	4,00	60,00
	21	0,1012	7232,95	7201,00	7221,00	20,00	-31,95	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	17918,00	131400,00	7,00	53,00
	22	0,1012	7232,95	7202,00	7224,00	22,00	-30,95	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	140359,00	4,00	37,00
	23	0,1012	7232,95	7202,00	7223,00	21,00	-30,95	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	131400,00	4,00	39,00
	24	0,1012	7232,95	7189,00	7227,00	38,00	-43,95	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	5973,00	131400,00	1,00	29,00
	25	0,1012	7232,95	7228,00	7273,00	45,00	-4,95	0,1020	0,1190	0,0178	8959,00	131400,000	4,00	60,00

Table 7-1 – Summarized results for MSch A

# 7.5 Summarized results for MSch B

		Or	iginal	NEL [kWh/day]				NVqmd [p.u.]			NSAC [€]		NERB [€]	
Sim./ Scenario		NVqmd [p.u.]	NEL [kWh/day]	Min.	Max.	NEL Variat. range	NEL improv.	Min.	Max.	NVqmd improv.	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.
	26	0,1012	7670,98	7665,00	7746,00	81,00	-5,98	0,0930	0,0990	-0,0022	17918,00	134387,00	9,00	64,00
	31	0,1012	7670,98	7665,00	7732,00	67,00	-5,98	0,0930	0,0990	-0,0022	17918,00	128414,00	9,00	62,00
	36	0,1012	7670,98	7664,00	7755,00	91,00	-6,98	0,0930	0,0990	-0,0022	17918,00	140359,00	10,00	76,00
	41	0,1012	7670,98	7665,00	7718,00	53,00	-5,98	0,0930	0,0990	-0,0022	17918,00	119455,00	8,00	56,00
	46	0,1012	7670,98	7664,00	7746,00	82,00	-6,98	0,0930	0,0990	-0,0022	14932,00	134387,00	8,00	74,00
	27	0,1012	7705,60	7693,00	7726,00	33,00	-12,60	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	11945,00	131400,00	5,00	53,00
	32	0,1012	7705,60	7693,00	7730,00	37,00	-12,60	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	14932,00	134387,00	5,00	49,00
	37	0,1012	7705,60	7694,00	7727,00	33,00	-11,60	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	23891,00	131400,00	10,00	57,00
	42	0,1012	7705,60	7693,00	7729,00	36,00	-12,60	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	8959,00	134387,00	3,00	47,00
	47	0,1012	7705,60	7694,00	7721,00	27,00	-11,60	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	17918,00	125428,00	8,00	55,00
	28	0,1012	8334,89	8309,00	8327,00	18,00	-25,89	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	125428,00	6,00	47,00
ш	33	0,1012	8334,89	8309,00	8327,00	18,00	-25,89	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	11945,00	137373,00	3,00	33,00
Sch	38	0,1012	8334,89	8309,00	8323,00	14,00	-25,89	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	20905,00	125428,00	5,00	32,00
ž	43	0,1012	8334,89	8309,00	8329,00	20,00	-25,89	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	128414,00	3,00	26,00
	48	0,1012	8334,89	8309,00	8321,00	12,00	-25,89	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	20905,00	125428,00	4,00	25,00
	29	0,1012	7725,51	7697,00	7719,00	22,00	-28,51	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	8959,00	119455,00	3,00	45,00
	34	0,1012	7725,51	7697,00	7714,00	17,00	-28,51	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	17918,00	131400,00	4,00	32,00
	39	0,1012	7725,51	7697,00	7718,00	21,00	-28,51	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	11945,00	128414,00	3,00	33,00
	44	0,1012	7725,51	7697,00	7718,00	21,00	-28,51	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	11945,00	122441,00	2,00	25,00
	49	0,1012	7725,51	7697,00	7719,00	22,00	-28,51	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	11945,00	128414,00	2,00	26,00
	30	0,1012	7232,95	7181,00	7225,00	44,00	-51,95	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	8959,00	128414,00	3,00	46,00
	35	0,1012	7232,95	7181,00	7218,00	37,00	-51,95	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	17918,00	122441,00	4,00	27,00
	40	0,1012	7232,95	7181,00	7227,00	46,00	-51,95	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	5973,00	122441,00	1,00	27,00
	45	0,1012	7232,95	7180,00	7221,00	41,00	-52,95	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	11945,00	134387,00	2,00	25,00
	50	0,1012	7232,95	7181,00	7216,00	35,00	-51,95	0,1000	0,1000	-0,0012	17918,00	134387,00	3,00	23,00

Table 7-2 – Summarized results for MSch B

# 7.6 Summarized results for MSch C

		Original		NEL [kWh/day]				NVqmd [p.u.]			NSAC [€]		NERB [€]	
Sim./ Scenario		NVqmd [p.u.]	NEL [kWh/day]	Min.	Max.	NEL Variat. range	NEL improv.	Min.	Max.	NVqmd improv.	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.
	51	0,1012	8431,06	8420,00	8431,00	11,00	-11,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	17918,00	125428,00	6,00	42,00
	52	0,1012	8431,06	8420,00	8431,00	11,00	-11,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	20905,00	131400,00	4,00	27,00
	53	0,1012	8431,06	8420,00	8429,00	9,00	-11,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	23891,00	122441,00	4,00	23,00
	54	0,1012	8431,06	8420,00	8429,00	9,00	-11,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	23891,00	128414,00	4,00	23,00
	55	0,1012	8431,06	8420,00	8430,00	10,00	-11,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	23891,00	125428,00	3,00	18,00
	56	0,1012	8431,06	8419,00	8429,00	10,00	-12,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	125428,00	5,00	40,00
	57	0,1012	8431,06	8419,00	8432,00	13,00	-12,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	20905,00	137373,00	4,00	29,00
	58	0,1012	8431,06	8419,00	8427,00	8,00	-12,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	26877,00	122441,00	5,00	25,00
	59	0,1012	8431,06	8419,00	8427,00	8,00	-12,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	17918,00	122441,00	3,00	23,00
	60	0,1012	8431,06	8419,00	8429,00	10,00	-12,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	128414,00	2,00	20,00
	61	0,1012	8431,06	8417,00	8425,00	8,00	-14,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	122441,00	6,00	47,00
ပ	62	0,1012	8431,06	8417,00	8428,00	11,00	-14,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	8959,00	128414,00	2,00	33,00
Sch	63	0,1012	8431,06	8417,00	8427,00	10,00	-14,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	131400,00	4,00	39,00
Ň	64	0,1012	8431,06	8417,00	8426,00	9,00	-14,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	14932,00	122441,00	3,00	24,00
	65	0,1012	8431,06	8417,00	8423,00	6,00	-14,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	23891,00	116468,00	6,00	31,00
	66	0,1012	8431,06	8427,00	8476,00	49,00	-4,06	0,1010	0,1020	0,0008	17918,00	131400,00	7,00	54,00
	67	0,1012	8431,06	8427,00	8473,00	46,00	-4,06	0,1010	0,1010	-0,0002	17918,00	128414,00	6,00	46,00
	68	0,1012	8431,06	8428,00	8480,00	52,00	-3,06	0,1010	0,1020	0,0008	23891,00	134387,00	9,00	49,00
	69	0,1012	8431,06	8427,00	8484,00	57,00	-4,06	0,1010	0,1030	0,0018	14932,00	137373,00	5,00	47,00
	70	0,1012	8431,06	8428,00	8488,00	60,00	-3,06	0,1010	0,1030	0,0018	20905,00	140359,00	7,00	48,00
	71	0,1012	8431,06	8429,00	8455,00	26,00	-2,06	0,1010	0,1020	0,0008	20905,00	134387,00	3,00	21,00
	72	0,1012	8431,06	8429,00	8455,00	26,00	-2,06	0,1010	0,1020	0,0008	20905,00	131400,00	3,00	22,00
	73	0,1012	8431,06	8429,00	8454,00	25,00	-2,06	0,1010	0,1020	0,0008	23891,00	128414,00	3,00	18,00
	74	0,1012	8431,06	8429,00	8459,00	30,00	-2,06	0,1010	0,1030	0,0018	38823,00	140359,00	6,00	22,00
	75	0,1012	8431,06	8429,00	8454,00	25,00	-2,06	0,1010	0,1020	0,0008	38823,00	131400,00	4,00	15,00

Table 7-3 – Summarized results for MSch C